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Chairman’s Statement

EERES

To Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2010.

Benefiting from various financial stimulus measures introduced
by governments at provincial and municipal levels, the overall
Chinese economy gradually recovered in 2010. However, while
the economy was recovering, the global environment was
worsening. Therefore, there has been a major call for more
focus in energy conservation and environmental protection.
Indeed, governments around the world have been putting
efforts to foster this movement, aiming at achieving sustainable
economic and social development.

The Chinese Central Government states explicitly in its Twelfth
Five-Year Plan of 2011-2015 that energy conservation and
environmental protection (“EP”) are among the most critical
focus of the country. The Government has also introduced
various policies to support the EP industry. As a result of these
initiatives, the standards for wastewater and flue gas emissions
are expected to be raised and the demand for EP products
in the PRC will rise as well. The Group’s EP business is well
poised to benefit from these favorable policies. In 2010, the
Group embarked a variety of projects, many of which have been
completed and recognised in phases, thus delivering a stable
sales performance for the year.

To broaden the scope of its EP business and to tap the
expanding market for environmentally friendly construction
materials, the Group has introduced wood wool cement board
production lines from the Netherlands.

In the future, the Group aims at securing more sales and
engineering contracts for different EP products and equipments,
and exploring suitable investment opportunities to capture
opportunities presented by the country’s environmental
protection initiatives.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group achieved
a total revenue of RMB646.7 million, an increase of 6.2%
compared with last year (2009: RMB609.0 million). It completed
a number of contracts on water treatment and two contracts
on flue gas desulphurisation (“FGD”). As the gross profit margin
of the FGD projects was low, the Group’s overall gross profit
decreased to RMB142.7 million (2009: RMB164.9 million) with
gross profit margin at 22% (2009: 27.1%). Profit attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to RMB76.3 million (2009:
RMB88.1 million). Earnings per share was RMB9.53 cents
(2009: RMB11.01 cents).

PROSPECTS

Water and flue gas treatment business - continue to bring
promising revenue to the Group

The Twelfth Five-Year Plan officially commences in 2011, during
which energy conservation and environmental protection are
regarded as among one of the seven key emerging industries by
the PRC Government and are the focus of the country’s future
development. It is believed that the country’s demand for EP
products and services will increase under the implementation of
the Government policies, and will bring favourable opportunities
to the Group. The Group currently has 23 contracts with a total
value of approximately RMB522.0 million on hand.

The water treatment business will continue to bring stable
income to the Group in 2011. It will further expand its scope of
services from constructing large scale water treatment projects
to building and operating them. This business direction will help
broaden income sources, generate steady cash flow and boost
return on investment for the Group.

The Group will devote more energy in developing its FGD
and flue gas denitrification (“DeNOx”) businesses with the
aim of increasing the proportion of this business segment in
the Group’s overall turnover. The Central Government has
proposed a standard for DeNOx in its Twelfth Five-Year Plan,
and DeNOx engineering has also been designated as a key
measure to reduce environmental pollution, indicating its
great market potential. As such, the Group has decided to
focus on developing engineering and construction of DeNOx
systems and will suspend its earlier plan to research, develop
and produce catalysts used in DeNOx systems until a viable
partner is identified. It has also reached an agreement with
an overseas supplier whereby the Group will be supplied with
quality catalysts to meet its future project needs. The Group will
continue to expand the scope of its FGD business in the light
of tremendous demand for EP projects from the iron and steel
industries. This thus constitutes the Group’s future development
direction.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRES

Environmentally friendly construction materials business - a
new growth driver with huge potential

Apart from its traditional core business areas, the Group is
well aware of the stricter requirements placed on construction
materials and the policy to build more affordable housing for the
public. It has successfully expanded into the environmentally
friendly construction materials business by entering into an
cooperation agreement with Eltomation BV of the Netherlands

in May 2010 regarding the introduction of wood wool
cement board production lines. Wood wool cement board
is an environmentally friendly inorganic energy conserving
construction material which is made by cement, eco-friendly
and fast growing timber, and nontoxic chemical addictives
after high pressure processing. This material is widely used
overseas because of its distinctive features of heat preservation,
fire resistant, sound-proof, and moisture-proof, mould-
proof and insect repelling properties. It also does not contain
formaldehyde or any other volatile organic compounds. The
benefits of wood wool cement board make it a perfect material
for renovation and wall construction, in particular, for residential
and commercial buildings requiring heat conservation, high
durability and energy saving.

The Group has set strict requirements on the timber it uses for
the production of wood wool cement boards. All of the timber
used complies with environmental protection standards and is
provided by qualified suppliers. Most of the timber is from eco-
friendly fast-growing trees to ensure minimum negative impact
on the environment. Working towards a greener society that
uses resources more efficiently has always been the Group’s
mission. With this in mind, the Group will continue its efforts
to provide a comfortable living environment for people and
contribute to sustainable development of the economy by
providing energy-saving construction materials.
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The Group’s first wood wool cement board production line had
completed the trial run in March 2011 while two other lines are
planned to commence production by the end of 2011. These
production lines are expected to generate significant profit
contributions to the Group’s results in 2012. To increase further
capacity, the Group plans to actively increase production lines
in the future. In addition to the Yixing factory, it will also set up
production stations in other areas, including Anhui and Liaoning
provinces, targeting to sell this high-quality construction material
to more areas.

To promote wood wool cement board, the Group participated
in “The Seventh International Conference on Green and
Energy-Efficiency Building & New Technologies and Products
Expo” as an exhibitor on 28 March 2011. This annual EP
expo is launched by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-
Rural Development of the PRC and is a highly influential event
among the PRC EP industry. The requirements on selecting
exhibitors are also very stringent. The expo showcased the
latest technologies and applications relating to energy saving
construction and has attracted people from around the world,
especially local participation. Amid a green building trend, it
is expected that the Group’s wood wool cement boards will
draw considerable interest from different industries, bringing
significant contributions to the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

EERES

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: HK4 cents per
share), earmarking the profit to be used as capital for further
development of various businesses, and also to capture
opportunities arising from the rapid developing EP market.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my appreciation to the management team and all
our staff for their contributions and dedication to the Group as
well as my gratitude to the shareholders for their continuous
support.

By order of the Board

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
JIANG Quanlong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEBNWKkIW

BUSINESS REVIEW

As an integrated EP service provider in the PRC, the Group
mainly designs and manufactures water and flue gas treatment
products and equipment and sells pipes. The Group also
undertakes EP construction engineering projects and provides
EP related professional services. As at 31 December 2010, the
Group had 60 engineers with different professional background
and who had experience in providing customised EP solutions
to customers across different industries.

SALES OF EP PRODUCTS AND EQUIPMENT

Business activities of this segment include selling water and flue
gas treatment products and equipment as well as pipes. During
the year under review, it recorded a turnover of approximately
RMB627.9 million, accounting for about 97.1% of the Group’s
total turnover.

Sales of Water Treatment Products and Equipment

The water treatment systems produced by the Group are
mainly used to process industrial and urban wastewater. Water
treatment business generated a turnover of approximately
RMB492.2 million, accounting for 78.4% of the segmental
turnover. Water treatment business is still the main focus of the
Group’s contracts on hands and during the year, the Group
completed 42 water treatment related sales contracts. The
Group will continue to focus on the development of water
treatment projects and the business will maintain steady growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFNWR DM

Sales of Flue Gas Treatment Products and Equipment

The flue gas treatment systems manufactured by the Group
are used in many industries to process polluted gas generated
during the course of industrial production. In the past, the
Group mainly provided FGD services to power plants; however,
as there is more room for development in the iron and steel,
cement and glass industries, the Group began to provide
services to these market segments. During the year under
review, the Group completed 3 projects related to the sales
of equipment for flue gas treatment, contributing a turnover of
RMB107.7 million to the Group, representing a 17.1% of the
segmental turnover. In 2010, the Group planned to expand
further its business scope to DeNOx. Denitrification reduces
nitrogen oxide emissions, which is a major objective of the
country’s EP targets. The DeNOx system construction for
thermal power plant is a main direction of the Group’s future
development. According to the Twelfth Five-Year Plan of
the PRC, there will be huge investments in the construction
and operation of wastewater, FGD and DeNOx treatments.
Therefore, the Group believes projects for construction of FGD
and DeNOx systems will generate a significant contribution in
the future.

Sales of Pipes

In addition to providing clients with comprehensive EP solutions,
the Group also produces fibre glass-reinforced plastic pipes with
diameters up to 2,000 mm at its Yixing workshop with a total
annual production capacity estimated at 172,680 metres. During
the year, the Group completed 3 contracts related to sales of
pipes, which generated a turnover of approximately RMB28.0
million, accounting for 4.5% of the segmental turnover. The
utilisation rate of the pipe workshop was approximately 15.7%.

EP CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING PROJECTS

Leveraging its extensive industry expertise, professional
research and development capabilities and technologies, the
Group has been providing one-stop EP solutions to many
clients. During the year, this segment recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB13.1 million, accounting for about 2.0% of
the Group’s total turnover.
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PROVISION OF EP RELATED PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES

The Group, through its subsidiary SEEDRI, provides EP-related
professional services to clients. With Grade A engineering
design certificates, SEEDRI is qualified to undertake engineering
design for all environmental projects. During the year, the
segment recorded a turnover of approximately RMB5.7 million,
accounting for around 0.9% of the total turnover of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2010, the total assets of the Group
amounted to RMB1,443.0 million (2009: RMB1,406.4 million).
The Group’s total liabilities as at 31 December 2010 were
RMB237.2 million (2009: RMB246.6 million). The main reason
for the decrease in total liabilities was the decrease in accounts
payables and short term bank loans. The Group’s total equity
as at 31 December 2010 was RMB1,205.8 million (2009:
RMB1,159.8 million). The Group’s bank borrowings outstanding
as at 31 December 2010 amounted to RMB9.0 million at
variable rate of 6.06% to 6.97% per annum (2009: RMB16.5
million at fixed interest rate). There was no particular seasonality
of the Group’s borrowings. The Group monitored capital using
a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by total equity of the
Group. The total debt to equity ratio of the Group expressed
as a percentage of interest bearing loans and other borrowings
over the total equity was 0.7% as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
1.4%). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB685.5 million as at 31 December 2010.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

Business transactions and liabilities of the Group are largely
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollars. The Group
adopts a conservative financial policy and the majority of its
bank deposits are in Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollars. As at 31
December 2010, the Group did not have any foreign currency
bank liability, foreign exchange contracts, interest or currency
swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purpose.
Accordingly, the Group does not have material exposure to
fluctuations in exchange rates other than significant interest rate
and foreign exchange risk of Hong Kong Dollars. Nevertheless,
the management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange
exposure and will take prudent measures as and when
appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFNWR DM

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had a capital expenditure
commitment amounted to RMB91.5 million (2009: RMB51.3
million). The Group provides product maintenance service to
customers of EP construction projects and certain EP products
for a period ranging from 6 months to 2 years after a project
is completed or a product is delivered. At the same time, the
Group enjoys warranties for the work and equipment from its
subcontractors and suppliers. The directors of the Company
believe that the amount of crystallised warranty liabilities, if
any, in excess of the amount covered by the warranties given
by sub-contractors and suppliers, will not have any material
adverse effect on the overall financial position or operating
results of the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had approximately
280 employees. Salaries of employees are maintained at a
competitive level and reviewed annually, with close reference
to the relevant labour market benchmarks and the prevailing
economic situation. Remuneration of the directors is determined
based on a variety of factors including market conditions
and the specific responsibilities shouldered by the individual
director. Apart from the basic remuneration and statutory
benefits required by laws, the Group also provides discretionary
bonuses based on the Group’s results and the performance of
an individual employee. The Group also has an employee share
option scheme in operation.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee comprising three independent non-
executive directors has been established by the Company
to review the financial reporting process and internal control
procedures of the Group.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December 2010 have been reviewed by the
Company’s Audit Committee. Also, the figures in respect of
this preliminary results announcement have been agreed by the
Company’s external auditors, CCIF CPA Limited, to the amounts
set out in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31st December 2010. The work performed by CCIF
CPA Limited in this respect did not constitute an assurance
engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing, Hong Kong Standards on Review Engagements or
Hong Kong Standards on Assurance Engagements issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
consequently no assurance has been expressed by CCIF CPA
Limited on this preliminary results announcement.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
December 2010.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
3 June 2011 (Friday), notice of which will be published and
dispatched to the shareholders as soon as practicable in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association and the
Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
1 June 2011 (Wednesday) to 3 June 2011 (Friday), both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting, all transfers of shares of the
Company accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
appropriate transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:00 p.m. on
31 May 2011 (Tuesday).
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased
to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2010.

The manner in which the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) are applied and
implemented is explained in the following sections of this
Corporate Governance Report:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance to its healthy growth and has devoted considerable
efforts to identifying and formulating corporate governance
practices appropriate to its needs.

The CG Code sets out the principles of good corporate
governance and two levels of corporate governance practices:

(@) code provisions which listed issuers are expected to
comply with or to give considered reasons for any
deviation; and

(b) recommended best practices for guidance only, which
listed issuers are encouraged to comply with or to give
considered reasons for any deviation.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles, code provisions and certain recommended best
practices as set out in the CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company
has complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices regularly to ensure compliance with the CG Code and
continue to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and
investors.
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A. THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Management and control of the Company’s
business are vested in its Board. The Board
establishes policies, strategies and plans for the
development of the Company’s business, and
provides leadership in the creation of value for
shareholders.

Every director carries out his duty in good faith and
in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

Membership of the Board is currently made up of
seven members in total, with four executive directors
and three independent non-executive directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Chairman and
member of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee

Mr. Jiang Lei, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fan Yajun

Mr. Gan Yi

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, chairman of the
Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and member
of the Audit Committee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, chairman of the
Audit Committee and member of
the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee

Professor Wang Guozhen, member of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed
in all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to
time.
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Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Chairman, is the sole director of
Praise Fortune Limited, the controlling shareholder
of the Company. He is the father of Mr. Jiang Lei
(being an executive director), father of Mr. Jiang Xin
and spouse of Ms. Qian Yuanying, all of whom are
the shareholders of Praise Fortune Limited. Save as
disclosed, there are no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships among members
of the Board. A brief description of the background
of each director and the detailed relationships among
the members of the Board are disclosed under
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to
32 and “Report of the Directors” on pages 33 to 46.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive
director of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive directors
to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines as set out in the Listing
Rules.

All directors, including independent non-executive
directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
The independent non-executive directors are invited
to serve on the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are carried out by
different individuals and have been clearly defined in
writing.
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The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
and the Chief Executive Officer is Mr. Jiang Lei with
effect from 1 May 2010 while Mr. Fan Yajun ceased
to act as Chief Executive Officer on 1 May 2010.
With the support of the Company Secretary and the
senior management, the Chairman is responsible
for ensuring that the directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner
and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board
meetings. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on
implementing objectives, policies and strategies
approved and delegated by the Board and he is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management
and operations.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of the executive directors of the Company is
engaged on a service contract with the Company
for a term of 3 years commencing from 1 December
2007 which shall continue thereafter from year to
year until terminated by either party with 3 months’
notice in writing served on the other side. Each
of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company is appointed for a specific term up to
30 November 2009 and according to the service
contract with the Company, the appointment shall
continue from year to year until terminated by either
party with 3 months’ notice in writing served on the
other side.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, all directors of the Company are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a causal
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself for re-election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of directors are laid down
in the Company’s Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment
and succession planning of directors and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive
directors.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members,
the majority of them are independent non-executive
directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include:

° to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations
regarding any proposed changes;

o to develop and formulate relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors;

o to identify suitable candidates for appointment
as directors;

o to make recommendations to the Board
on appointment or re-appointment of and
succession planning for directors;

o to assess the independence of independent
non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process
of selecting and recommending candidates for
directorships by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of such individuals,
the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations. An external recruitment
agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process where necessary.

The Nomination Committee did not hold any
meeting but one Board meeting at which directors’
nomination matters had been discussed was held
during the year ended 31 December 2010. The
meeting was attended by Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Fan Yajun and Mr. Gan Yi. Mr.
Jiang Quanlong is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Lai Wing Lee and Mr.
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny shall retire by rotation and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee recommended the
re-appointment of the directors standing for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

The Company’s circular containing detailed
information of the directors standing for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting would be
sent to the shareholders.

Training and Continuing Development

Though no new directors has been appointed during
the year ended 31 December 2010, each newly
appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing directors are continually updated with
legal and regulatory developments, and the business
and market changes to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for directors will be
arranged where necessary.

Board Meetings

(i)  Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules for annual meeting and draft agenda
of each meeting are normally sent to all
directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served
to all directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are sent to
all directors/committee members at least 3
days before each Board meeting or committee
meeting to ensure that the directors have
sufficient time to review the related documents
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.
The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary attend all
regular Board meetings and where necessary,
other Board and committee meetings to
advise on business developments, financial
and accounting matters, statutory compliance,
corporate governance and other major aspects
of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for
taking and keeping minutes of all Board
meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final versions are open for
directors’ inspection.

The Company’s Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving transactions in
which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest. According to current
Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial
shareholder or a director, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting.
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(i) Directors’ Attendance Records

During the year ended 31 December 2010,
four regular Board meetings were held, two of
which were meetings for, among other things,
approving the final results for the year ended
31 December 2009 and interim results for the
six months ended 30 June 2010. The other two
regular Board meetings were held as and when
the business and operational needs arose.

The attendance records of each director at
the Board meetings during the year ended 31
December 2010 are set out below:

Name of Director

EEla

Jiang Quanlong BIREE
Jiang Lei B&
Fan Yajun BIE
Gan Yi B
Lai Wing Lee B
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny Pz
Wang Guozhen FEE

Model Code For Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct
regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s
securities (the “Company’s Securities Dealing Code”)
on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors
and the directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Company’s Securities Dealing
Code and the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2010.
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The Company’s Securities Dealing Code on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for
securities transactions also applies to all employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Company’s
Securities Dealing Code by the employees was noted
by the Company.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of
the Company, including the approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each director is normally able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the Chief
Executive Officer and the senior management. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
abovementioned officers.

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference
which are posted on the Company’s website and are
available to shareholders upon request.

The Board also has the full support of the Chief Executive

Officer and the senior management for the discharge of its
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on remuneration
of senior management of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members,
the majority of them are independent non-executive
directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include:

° to make recommendations on the establishment of
procedures for developing the remuneration policy
and structure for the executive directors and the
senior management, which policy shall ensure that
no director or any of his associates will participate in
deciding his own remuneration;

° to make recommendations on the remuneration
packages of the executive directors and the senior
management;

° to review and approve the remuneration packages of
the executive directors and the senior management
by reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions;

o to review and approve the compensation
arrangements for the executive directors and the
senior management.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for
collection and administration of the human resources
data and making recommendations to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration. The Remuneration
Committee shall consult with the Chairman and/or the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure
and remuneration packages.
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The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and
the remuneration packages of the executive directors and
the senior management for the year under review.

The Remuneration Committee has not held any meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2010.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in
respect of Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2010.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of financial statements of the Company with
a view to ensuring that such financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
that relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and
applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The Management provides such explanation and
information to the Board so as to enable the Board to
make an informed assessment of the financial information
and position of the Company put to the Board for
approval.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year under review, the Board with the
support of the Audit Committee, conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Company including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget.

The internal control system of the Group aims to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and
to safeguard assets of the Group. The senior management
shall review and evaluate the control process, monitors
any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the
variances and identified risks.
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The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard shareholders’
investments and Company’s assets and with the support
of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of
such system on an annual basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors (including one independent
non-executive director who possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise). None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include:

° to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function, internal auditor or external auditor
before submission to the Board;

° to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor;

o to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

The Audit Committee provides supervision on the internal
control system of the Group and reports to the Board on
any material issues and makes recommendations to the
Board.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee has
reviewed the Group’s annual results and annual report
for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2010, the
financial reporting and compliance procedures, the report
from the management on the Company’s internal control
and risk management review and processes and the
re-appointment of the external auditor.
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The external auditor was invited to attend the meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from
the audit and financial reporting matters.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year

ended 31 December 2010 and the attendance records are
set out below:

Name of Director

EEna

Lai Wing Lee FEK A
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny Rt
Wang Guozhen TEZ

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 47 to 48.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company
in respect of audit services and non-audit services
amounted to HK$1,080,000 and HK$470,000 respectively.
An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external
auditor of the Company is set out below:

Category of Services

BRHER

Audit Service EZ RS

SN BN B HE S 0 BEX
REBEImERLMBEREEM

JJ:EE %ﬁ?fé@% TMRE
% AT ¢

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

HERE SR Y

2/2
2/2
2/2

ShES R BYEM B £ B EH B &

R BN A B B LR B 7S R
2 FR R T A 0 R B N 5B 47

1 £ 5E48E 7 [ 18 3 7% BURD W &
I%J o

HE-_ZT—ZEF+-_A=+—HIE
FE ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%&#%ﬁﬁﬁ%i
N FARRDEINEZ BRI ES 5 B
71,080,000/ 7T £&470,000/% JT °
ST F AR B INEZE AN BB & 5
MaT

Fees Paid/Payable
g2t EfEA

HK$1,080,0007# 7T

Non-audit Service
— review of accounts for the period
ended 30 June 2010
— review results announcement

Total

FEBZRTE

—EBEBE-_ZT—TF
NA=ZTBIEEEZRE

_ﬁfﬁjii‘ /‘\/_t

HK$430,000/& 7T
HK$40,0007% 7T

HK$1,550,0007% 7T




COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor’s understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company also recognises
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide an
important channel for communication and exchange
of views between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members of
the respective committees and, where applicable, the
independent Board committee, normally attend the annual
general meeting and other relevant shareholders’ meetings
to answer questions at shareholders’ meetings.

The 2011 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) will be held
on 3 June 2011. The notice of AGM will be sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
AGM.

To promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at www.paep.com.cn, where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial

information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access. Investors may
write directly to the Company at its principal place of
business in Hong Kong or via email to info@paep.com.cn
for any enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed for each substantially separate
issue at shareholders’ meetings, including the election of
individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange after each shareholders’
meeting. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be
explained during the proceedings of meetings.

GOING CONCERN

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

RRIEF

RREBRRNE REN - @R
RELRBREXREFEE (BFEES
ERES) REEFBRER °

RIELTRA AERERARE L
REZARBREBEUARENAR
R MBERERRGERERERBR
RE RN B A5 K B 32 P A8
LR BRETRENFERF
BESHETPHA -

HHRETT
I EBE R HEE F MRS B

EERAR AR ER TR
BN -




BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, aged 58, is the Chairman of the Board
and an Executive Director of the Company. He was appointed
as Director of the Company in August 2006. He is also a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. He has over 10 years of experience in China’s EP
industry. He is responsible for formulating strategies guiding the
Group’s overall development and strengthening the competitive
position of the Group in the PRC’s EP market. In addition, he
is the chairman and executive director of China Rare Earth
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Jiang
is the father of Mr. Jiang Lei and also the sole director of Praise
Fortune Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Jiang Lei, aged 28, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed Director of the Company in March
2007. He was then appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Group in May 2010. He joined the Group in March 2007
and is responsible for the business development of the Group.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Finance from Cass Business
School, London, the United Kingdom. Mr. Jiang is the son of
Mr. Jiang Quanlong.

Mr. Fan Yajun, aged 43, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed Director of the Company in
March 2007. He has nearly 20 years of experience in business
management. He joined the Group in July 2002 and has
been responsible for the overall administration and business
management. He completed a Master degree in Business
Administration from Southeast University in July 2004. For the
period between August 1999 and August 2005, he was an
executive director of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Gan Yi, aged 55, is an Executive Director of the Company.
He was appointed Director of the Company in March 2007. He
has over 20 years of experience in environmental protection
engineering design. He was appointed as an officer of Shanghai
Environmental Engineering Design & Research Institute Limited
(“SEEDRI”) in 1995 and has served as a director of SEEDRI
since 2002. He was also the chairman and general manager of
SEEDRI from 2003 until April 2006, and was appointed the vice
general manager of SEEDRI in April 2006. He is responsible
for the daily operation and market development of SEEDRI. He
completed a security engineering course at Tongji University in
December 1988.

Directors and Senior Management
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, aged 71, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
December 2007. He is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and also a
member of the Audit Committee. He has been the managing
director of Shenzhen Beishen Environmental Packaging
Development Co., Limited, which is mainly engaged in the
sales and manufacture of environmental protection packaging
products, since August 2005. He graduated from the South
China Institute of Technology (now known as South China
University of Technology) in 1965. He has over 30 years of
experience in enterprise management.

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, aged 48, has been appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
since December 2007. He is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee. He has over 15 years’ working
experience in, among other things, accounting, treasury
management, budgeting and corporate finance. He graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a professional
diploma in Accountancy and obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from the University of South Australia.
He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of Certified
General Accountants’ Association of Canada. From 2005 to
2007, he served as the financial controller, qualified accountant
and company secretary of Xiwang Sugar Holdings Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. From 2001 to
date, he was a director of a company providing accounting,
tax and corporate finance services. From 1999 to 2001, he
held key finance position in a listed company in Hong Kong.
From 1998 to 1999, he was a finance director of a company
principally engaged in the provision of network infrastructure
solutions. From 1993 to 1998, he was the financial controller
of a company principally engaged in property investment,
trading and securities. From 1987 to 1990, he had worked
in international accounting firms, handling audit, tax and
accounting matters.
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Professor Wang Guozhen, aged 75, has been appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
December 2007. He is a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. He was
from 1994 to 2005, a member of the Rare Earth Expert Group
of China State Planning and Development Commission, and
the team leader of the Industry Division. He graduated from
the Department of Chemical Engineering of Tianjin University
with a major in physical chemistry of metals. He is a member of
the expert group and an adviser of the Environment Protection
Specialist Commission. He has been an independent director of
the State-owned Gansu Rare Earth Group Co., Ltd. since 2005.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent, aged 37, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Company. He joined the
Group in March 2007 and is responsible for the corporate
finance function of the Group, and oversees matter related
to financial administration, and the compliance and reporting
obligations of the Group. Mr. Wan has more than 10 years’
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wan has worked for a company
listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange, as its financial
controller from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Wan is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wan holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

Mr. Fu Kun, aged 44, has over 18 years of experience in
project management of engineering design. He served as a vice
general manager of SEEDRI since April 2006. Before joining
the Group, he was the vice general manager of Shanghai
Gongcheng. He is responsible for project management of
environmental protection engineering design. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from Asia International Open
University, Macau.

Mr. Huang Wei, aged 27, is the vice general manager of
Wuxi Pan-Asia. He has about 7 years of experience in EP
technology. He joined the Group in 2010 and is responsible for
wood wool cement board division. Before joining the Group, he
was a technical manager of Jiangsu Yuansheng Environmental
Protection Equipment Co, Limited. He graduated from Xuzhou
Normal University, majoring in computer numerical control
machining technology.

Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Chen Liangping, aged 62, is the chief engineer of Wuxi
Pan-Asia. He has over 20 years of experience in equipment
manufacturing and production management. He joined the
Group in 2006 and is responsible for the management of the
daily production of the Group. Before joining the Group, he was
a vice general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory
Materials Company Limited, a subsidiary under China Rare
Earth Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wu Xijun, aged 37, is the head of the internal audit
department of the Group. He has about 8 years of experience
in financial management. He joined the Group in February
2011 and is responsible for the internal audit of the Group’s
enterprises in the PRC. Before joining the Group, he was a
finance manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited. Mr. Wu graduated from The Open University
of China, majoring in accountancy.

Ms. Xu Yiyun, aged 33, is the head of the finance department
of Wuxi Pan-Asia. Ms. Xu has about 8 years of experience in
financial management and corporate accounting in the PRC.
She joined the Group in October 2000. Ms. Xu graduated from
Suzhou University, majoring in accountancy.

Mr. Shen Mingming, aged 55, is the manager of the
administration and human resource department of Wuxi
Pan-Asia. He joined the Group in 2010 and is responsible
for the daily management of the Group’s human resource,
administration and logistics services. Before joining the Group,
he worked as deputy general director in Investment Invitation
Bureau of Yixing, the PRC. He graduated from Jiangsu Radio
and TV University majoring in industrial economy management.

Mr. Tang Weiqing, aged 47, the vice general manager of
SEEDRI. He has over 20 years of experience in environmental
protection engineering design. He joined SEEDRI in 2003 and
is responsible for the overall project engineering design of
SEEDRI. He graduated from Shanghai University of Technology
with a major in analytical chemistry.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) submit
their annual report together with the audited financial
statements of Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has
its principal place of business in the PRC at No. 1 Chuanshan
Road, Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, PRC
214222 and its principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of pipes, water
treatment and flue gas treatment products and equipment,
as well as undertaking of environmental protection (“EP”)
construction engineering projects and provision of EP related
professional services.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BARP

Five largest customers in aggregate AAREF T
The largest supplier A ER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate A AHEERERE

None of the Directors, their associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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Percentage of
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2010 and the state of the Company’s and the
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 49 to 53.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Profits attributable to equity holders of the Company, before
dividends, of RMB76,277,000 (2009: RMB88,070,000) have
been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are
set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2010, the distributable reserve of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB781,256,000 (2009:
RMB792,883,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the financial year are set out in note 28 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Lei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fan Yajun

Mr. Gan Yi

MEBRE

AEBREE-_T—ZTF+-_A=1+—H
IR EE 2B A R AN E R AEBRZ
BZRRE RIS RKRF49EFEL3H °
CIR g 31 ]

RARERETA ABMEEF (RTEE)
BARYET?6,277,0000C (ZTETRF : A
R #88,070,0007T) EE B = - i
ZEMBEEEH AP IERERI 29 °
RNRZE—ZTEFE+-_A=+—H  XAQ7
Al o B R4 A AR ET781,256,0007T
“ZETNF : ARME792,883,0007T) °
VE - BERERE

AEEYE BMERIBZEDFBIHRN
B FSmR M wE14 o

Bz %

E?ﬁ%i&%%ﬁh‘;ﬂs °

B8

fEEFBEHERAREZHE
23 °

EF
RUBEEAZESER

BTSRRI R

BITEE

BRBERLE (Z/E)
BErk (7THAA)
SBRERLE

HESEE




Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Professor Wang Guozhen

Mr. Jiang Lei retires from the office as executive director and
Mr. Lai Wing Lee and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny retire from
the offices as independent non-executive directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with article
108(A) of the articles of association and all retiring directors,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the information disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions”, no contracts of significance to which
the Company, any of its holding companies, or any of their
subsidiaries was a party, in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions MRE
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the

shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its m

associated corporations as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”), or as otherwise notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of Director

EERR

Jiang Quanlong

FeoREE

Jiang Lei
&=

Fan Yajun

BRE

GanYi

R

Lai Wing Lee

FE KA

Leung Shu Sun, Sunny
g%

Wang Guozhen

TEHZ

Nature of interest

L §-3:3

Corporate interest
EE RS

Beneficial interest
EamfEs
Corporate interest

AE R

Beneficial interest
BEmign
Beneficial interest
BEmiEn
Beneficial interest
BEmiEn
Beneficial interest
BEmiEn
Beneficial interest
BEmiEm
Beneficial interest

L §at: Fo

EEREG - ARG RESP
ZHBRKRE

T—ZTF+-_A=+—8  ARAE
FERITREER AR R R E AR EE 2 %
- SRR R ESPEEREESF KD
Bigp ([BHREAEED ) 3521558
RARBFEZREEMA - iRE LT
REESHETELRHNEETAENS
KRARIRBEBHBERFBRAR D

FORBIAT
RAEDBRGREBERD 2 ER

Equity Percentage

derivatives of issued

Number of (share option) share capital

shares held BEEGTEIR EEBTT

BERNEBE €42 )] BFESL

(Note 1) (Notes 1 and 5)
(Kia£1) (Ktet115)

600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
(Notes 2 and 4)
(Kiz2k4)

400,000 (L) 0.05%

600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
(Notes 3 and 4)
(K17#3%4)

400,000 (L) 0.05%

2,500,000 (L) 0.3125%

1,000,000 (L) 0.125%

500,000 (L) 0.0625%

500,000 (L) 0.0625%

500,000 (L) 0.0625%

T T T
L

Vg N



Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares.

2. These 600,000,000 shares are registered in the name of Praise
Fortune Limited, Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the sole director of Praise
Fortune Limited and he is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Praise Fortune Limited is interested by virtue of
the SFO.

3. These 600,000,000 shares are registered in the name of and
beneficially owned by Praise Fortune Limited, the entire issued
share capital of which is beneficially owned as to approximately
49.9%, 49.9% and 0.2% by Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang Xin and
Ms. Qian Yuanying respectively. Under the SFO, Mr. Jiang Lei is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Praise Fortune
Limited.

4. The total number of issued shares in Praise Fortune Limited as
at 31 December 2010 is 601 shares of US$1 each. These 601
shares are owned as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Lei (an executive
Director), as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Xin and as to 1 share by
Ms. Qian Yuanying. The sole director of Praise Fortune Limited is
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive Director and Ms. Qian Yuanying
is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong.

5. These interests represent the interests in underlying shares
in respect of share options granted by the Company to these
directors as beneficial owners, the details of which are set out in
the Share Option Scheme section stated below.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution of the sole
shareholder of the Company passed on 1 December 2007.
The Share Option Scheme complies with the requirements
of the Listing Rules. On 14 May 2008, the Company granted
17,800,000 options under the Share Option Scheme to its
directors and key employees at an exercise price of HK$2.81.
The closing market price per Share immediately before the date
on which the share options were granted was HK$2.79. The
options can be exercised one year after the grant date and
expiring on the tenth anniversary of the grant date. The total
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number of share options represents 2.2% of the Company’s HHERE T EAFERER o BREERHT
outstanding share capital when fully exercised. They include the B BEUEARARIEBITRA2.2% °
options granted to 4 executive directors, 3 independent non- ZEERERERETARRAENITE
executive directors and 11 employees of the Company for the = EBUFNTEERIIBEECH
number of shares set out below: f&iE - SRBROEEBEWAT :

Number of Share Options
RRERE

Exercised/

Cancelled/

Lapsed

during the

Granted period
As at during 3o As at
Date of Exercise Vesting  Exercisable  1/1/2010  theyear  Bffff,/ 31/12/2010

Grant Price Period Period ® RER BB/ ®
BHAY  fTEE BEH  FITEEE  1/1/2010 2R B&¥  81/12/2010
HK$
BT
Jiang Quanlong B 14/5/2008 281 14/5/2008t0  14/5/2009t0 400,000 = - 400,000
13/5/2009  13/5/2018
Jiang Lei 43 14/5/2008 281 14/5/2008t0  14/5/2009t0 400,000 = - 400,000
13/5/2009  13/5/2018
Fan Yajun BTE 14/5/2008 281 14/52008t0 14/5/2009t0 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
13/5/2009  13/5/2018
Gan i L 14/5/2008 281 14/52008t0  14/5/2009t0 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
13/5/2009  13/5/2018
Lai Wing Lee FEAH 14/5/2008 281 14/5/2008t0  14/5/2009t0 500,000 - - 500,000
13/5/2009  13/5/2018
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny ~ {54 14/5/2008 281 14/52008t0 14/5/2009t0 500,000 - - 500,000
13/5/2009  13/5/2018
Wang Guozhen IEY 14/5/2008 281 14/5/2008t0  14/5/2009t0 500,000 - - 500,000

13/5/2009  13/5/2018
Continuous contract ~ RHIA41EE  14/5/2008 281 14/5/2008t0  14/5/2009to 12,000,000 -
employees 13/5/2009 13/5/2018

17,800,000 -

12,000,000

17,800,000

As at 31 December 2010, there are options relating to %:%:%ﬁﬂ::ﬂz-kfﬁ P R AR
17,800,000 shares granted by the Company pursuant to the ﬁ?ﬁﬂ%&ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ7/':&1*7,800,000%%1%\
Share Option Scheme which are valid and outstanding. BB M AR TR AAE -




The Company has used the binomial option pricing model (the
“Model”) to value the share options granted pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2010,
which is a common model used in assessing the fair value of
an option. The value of an option varies with different variables
of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in the variables
so adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value
of an option. As such, the fair values calculated are inherently
subjective and uncertain due to the assumptions made and the
limitations of the valuation model used.

The share options were granted to the Directors, senior
management and other employees of the Company pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme on 14 May 2008. The fair value of
the share options as at the date of grant under the Model was
HK$15,681,000.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the directors and chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2010, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive officer of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO:
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Long position in the shares and underlying shares of the RELAFRGRERBRMGZEES

Company
Name Nature of interest
28 Eang

Praise Fortune Limited (Note 2)  Beneficial interest
Praise Fortune Limited (#/i#2) ExiEzR

Mr. Jiang Xin (Note 3) Interest of a controlled corporation
BaRLE (B3 S VNG £
Ms. Qian Yuanying (Note 4) Interest of spouse
BB L (H54) [IRLEE £
Interest of spouse
feiB g
Ms. Li Jingru (Note 5) Interest of spouse
FEMZL (H5E5) [IRLE £

Ms. Chai Yongping (Note 6) Interest of spouse
SRt (Hzt6) fiBEs

Interest of spouse
ey e

Notes:

1.

I, Lkl
i |'t|rn.| i
TR

lad . = .al'li",:d

L}

Approximate
Equity percentage of
derivatives  total number of

Number of (share option) issued shares
shares held BFEHEIR HEBRTREHEH
iR &E (BB ZEHaastt

(Note 1) (Note 1)

(Hiet1) (Hizt1)
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
400,000 (L) 0.05%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
400,000 (L) 0.05%

The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares/ 1. FRLEABALREN AR H

underlying shares. IR .

The total number of issued shares in Praise Fortune Limited as 2. Praise Fortune Limitedi® —ZF—Z %+
at 31 December 2010 is 601 shares of US$1 each. These 601 ZA=+—RZBETRGEE K601
shares are owned as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Lei (an executive g EEIRTZ B o %601 AR
Director), as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Xin and as to 1 share by Tyl EELE (ITEF) % AB300 K
Ms. Qian Yuanying. The sole director of Praise Fortune Limited is 3 M 8 55 4 E 53008k ik 10 F /i %

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive Director.

%

ety | .-,i.-3-r;“'-;--.- ids
b e e

TTHRZ A1 ° Praise Fortune
Limitedz M —#EEANTEEREREL
Ao




38 These Shares are registered in the name of and beneficially
owned by Praise Fortune Limited, the entire issued share capital
of which is beneficially owned as to approximately 49.9%, 49.9%
and 0.2% by Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang Xin and Ms. Qian Yuanying
respectively. Under the SFO, Mr. Jiang Xin is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Praise Fortune Limited.

4. Ms. Qian Yuanying is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong and is
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr.
Jiang Quanlong is deemed to be interested.

58 Ms. Li Jingru is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Xin and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Xin is
deemed to be interested.

6. Ms. Chai Yongping is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Lei and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Lei is
deemed to be interested.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed share during the year
ended 31 December 2010.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 8, 9, 19, 24, 25 and 34 to the
financial statements, no contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the
financial year or at any time during the financial year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions have been carried out by the Group
and its connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) during
the year:

Wuxi Xin Wei High Temperature Ceramics Co., Ltd. (“High
Temperature”) — Rental of Office Space

High Temperature was at the relevant time indirectly wholly
owned by China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (“CRE”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board and the latter’s
issued share capital, as at the end of the reporting period is
attributable as to about 35.60% to Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang
Quanlong, executive Directors, and their family members. High
Temperature is therefore a connected person of the Company
for the purpose of the Listing Rules. High Temperature is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of high
temperature ceramics products. By a lease agreement
(“Lease Agreement”) dated 30 April 2008 made between High
Temperature as the lessee and Wuxi Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Technologies Limited (“Wuxi Pan Asia”) as the
lessor, Wuxi Pan Asia leased the fifth block at number one of
Chuanzhang Road, Yixing City, the PRC with gross floor area
of 553.05 square metres, to High Temperature at an annual
rent of approximately RMB53,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$63,000). The premise is used as administrative office of
High Temperature. The Lease Agreement has a term of five
years, commencing from 1 May 2008 and expiring on 30 April
2013.

Osram (China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd. (“Osram”) -
Lease of Land

Osram was at the relevant time an associate of CRE. Osram is
therefore a connected person of the Company for the purpose
of the Listing Rules. Osram is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sales of fluorescent materials.

By a Lease Agreement dated on 20 September 2010 made
between Wuxi Pan Asia as the lessee and as the lessor, Osram
leased the land at 888 Taodu Road, Ceramic Industrial Park,
Yixing, the PRC with gross floor area of 3,460.68 square
metres, to Wuxi Pan Asia at an annual rent of approximately
RMB19,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$22,000). The
land is reserved by Wuxi Pan Asia to build up a factory for
productivity of wood wool cement board. The Lease Agreement
has a term of 49 years, commencing from 20 September 2010
and expiring on 29 December 2059.
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The above transactions under the Lease Agreement falls
within the de minimis threshold as stipulated under Rules
14A.33(3) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
are not subject to any of the reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements are applicable
to continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

Non-Competition Undertaking

Under the restrictive covenants of a share purchase agreement
dated 1 December 2007 executed among (i) YY Holdings as
vendor, (i) Praise Fortune Limited, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Ms.
Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin as covenantors,
and (iii) the Company as the purchaser, each of Praise Fortune
Limited, Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Mr. Jiang
Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin (collectively the “Covenantors”) has
undertaken that he/she/it will not and shall procure his/her/its
Associates will not:

(@) at any time disclose to any person, or himself/herself/
itself use for any purpose, and shall use his/her/its best
endeavours to prevent the publication or disclosure of, any
information concerning the business, accounts or finances
of any Group company, or any of its clients’, suppliers’
or customers’ transactions or affairs, which may, or may
have, come to his/her/its knowledge;

(b) at any time during which the Company is listed on
the Stock Exchange and for so long as each of the
Covenantors and their respective associates collectively
hold, whether individually or taken together, 30% or more
of the issued Shares or is regarded as the controlling
shareholder(s) of the Company under the Listing Rules
or for a period of two years from the date of the Listing,
whichever is the longest period of time:

(i)  directly or indirectly solicit, interfere with, employ or
endeavour to entice away from any Group company
with a view to competing with the Group any
person who, to his/her/its knowledge, is now, or
has during the 12 months preceding the date of the
share purchase agreement been, a client, customer,
supplier or employee of, or has been in the habit of
dealing with, any Group company;
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(i) at any time use the name or trading style of any
Group company, or any trademarks or logos or
device similar in appearance to any trademarks, in
the PRC, Hong Kong or any other part of the world,
or represent himself as carrying on or continuing
or being connected with any Group company or its
business for any purposes whatsoever; and/or

(i)  directly or indirectly carry on or be engaged or
concerned or interested in the businesses of (i)
the production of water treatment and flue gas
treatment and solid waste treatment equipment and
components and pipes; (ii) the sale and installation
of water treatment and flue gas treatment and solid
waste treatment equipment and pipes; and (i) the
contracting of water treatment and flue gas treatment
and solid waste treatment projects, being the current
principal businesses of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed that he/she/it is not
currently engaged in any business, which directly or indirectly
competes or may compete with the Group’s business.

Each of the Covenantors has undertaken in favour of the
Company under the share purchase agreement to procure the
provision to the Company of all information necessary for the
enforcement of the above undertaking. Each of the Covenantors
further undertakes in favour of the Company to make a
statement in the annual report of the Company confirming
compliance by it and its affiliates with the terms of the non-
competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement.
The Company will disclose in its annual reports on how the
undertakings in the share purchase agreement are complied
with and enforced in accordance with the principles of making
voluntary disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report as
defined in Appendix 23 of the Listing Rules.

Benxi Fanya Environmental Heat & Power Co., Ltd. (“Benxi
Fanya”) is owned as to 80% by Asia Global Tech Group Limited
(“AGT (HK)”), and as to 20% by an Independent Third Party.
AGT (HK) is beneficially owned as to 60%, 20% and 20% by
Ms. Qian Yuanying (the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong), Mr.
Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin (both of whom are sons of Mr.
Jiang Quanlong) respectively. The permitted business scope
on the business licence of Benxi Fanya includes, among
others, research and consultation of environmental protection
technology, and design of EP engineering. As at the date of
this annual report, Benxi Fanya was principally engaged in
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L '. generating electricity and heat, and did not engage or interest BREF M MEBINEP AR -
b in any businesses which compete with the current principal IEATREER AR (DI XT]) B
4

businesses of the Group. Jiangsu Tianyuan Technologies
Limited (“diangsu Tianyuan”) is owned by the associates of
Mr. Fang Guohong, former Executive Director of the Company
who resigned on 25 March 2009. The permitted business
scope on the business licence of Jiangsu Tianyuan includes,
among others, research and development of denitrification EP
equipment and technology, manufacture of FGD EP equipment,
desulphurization absorption tower and flue glass flake
anticorrosive material and denitrification EP equipment. As at
the date of this annual report, Jiangsu Tianyuan was principally
engaged in the business of producing thermal insulation
components, and did not engage or interest in any businesses
which compete with the current principal businesses of the
Group. The permitted scope of business of each of Benxi Fanya
and Jiangsu Tianyuan is relatively wide, but it is not unusual for
a corporate entity to provide for a broader scope of business
in its corporate documents to allow for flexibility. At present,
neither Benxi Fanya nor Jiangsu Tianyuan has any plan to
vary their respective business licences to exclude or alter the
permitted activities as set out therein.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong is also the chairman and one of the executive
directors of CRE, a company whose securities are listed on the
Main Board. CRE and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
manufacturing and sales of rare earth products and refractory
products. As the Group’s principal business is to provide
integrated EP solutions in areas such as water and flue gas
treatments, the current principal businesses of the Group and
those of CRE and its subsidiaries do not compete with each
other.

Under the restrictive covenants of several service agreements
dated 1 December 2007 between the Company and each of the
executive Directors, the executive Directors gave undertakings
similar to the wordings stated in paragraph (b) above of the said
share purchase agreement.

The independent non-executive Directors shall review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with the non-competition
undertaking by each of such persons on their existing or future
competing business and the Company shall disclose the result
of such review either through the annual report of the Company,
or by way of announcement to the public.
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As the controlling shareholders (namely, Praise Fortune Limited,
Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin) and Mr. Jiang Quanlong as sole
director of Praise Fortune Limited have given non-competition
undertakings in favour of the Company and none of them has
interests in other business that compete or are likely to compete
with the business of the Group, the management and operation
of the operating entities are independent from each other, the
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying
on its business independently of the controlling Shareholders.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 156 of
the annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The retirement schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries are
primarily in form of contributions to the Hong Kong mandatory
provident fund and China statutory public welfare fund.
Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in note 7 to
the financial statements.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders (“Shareholders”) of the Company are unsure
about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the
shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by CCIF CPA Limited. CCIF CPA Limited will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of CCIF CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board
Jiang Quanlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011
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CCIF

CCIF CPA LIMITED

34/F The Lee Gardens
33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF PAN ASIA ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
49 to 155, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2010,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and this report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A AR

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 March 2011

Kwok Cheuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P02412
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

= 32z
mEZTHEKER
For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-T—TF+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2010 2009
—E2-ZF —ETNEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FifsE AER®TT ARET T
TURNOVER BXE 4 646,708 608,972
Cost of sales SHERA (504,022) (444,096)
GROSS PROFIT £7 142,686 164,876
Other revenue Hfth i A 4 3,769 12,028
Other net (loss)/income Hib% (B18),/ WA 4 (1,415) 9,627
Selling and distribution expenses HENRDHEFAY (673) (17,531)
General and administrative expenses —BRITHAL (32,065) (34,902)
Other operating expenses HGems (1,281) (4,875)
Finance costs AERA 5a) (367) (4,080)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION FRiRATRF 8 110,654 125,143
Income tax expenses FrEBiAx 6 (35,999) (37,385)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ERBRTH 74,655 87,758
Other comprehensive for the year FREMZEKA
(after tax and reclassification (RERBEHSFRE)
adjustments)
Exchange differences on translation BEBIINEBB IS HRE
of financial statements of foreign ZERERE
operation (753) (205)
Other comprehensive income for FRARMEZEKA
the year, net of tax Rk (753) (205)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRREBARE
FOR THE YEAR 73,902 87,553
Profit attributable to: DT AL :
Owners of the Company ZN/NETEZZEDN 76,277 88,070
Non-controlling interests IR (1,622) (312)
74,655 87,758
Total comprehensive income DTFALEE2 AR :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company AARIEA A 75,524 87,865
Non-controlling interests e (1,622) (312)
73,902 87,553
EARNINGS PER SHARE BEREH 12
- BASIC AND DILUTED —BEXREE RMB9.53cents | RMB11.01cents
AR#9.53% AR#11.015

The notes on pages 54 to 155 form part of these financial

statements.
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Statements of Financial Position

B 7 AR 5 3R
As at 31 December 2010
R=FB—2F+=A=+—8

Note
&
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Prepaid lease payment BIHEEFR 18

ME - BE KRG 14
AL ESHEE 15
RIBBARZHE 16

Property, plant and equipment
Available-for-sale financial asset
Investments in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepaid lease payment BHEEFTE 13
Inventories g 17

FE

RUESREMZFIE 18
BEMETER 33
B RFTEH 20

Trade and other receivables
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES mENE &
Trade and other payables ERNESREMIE 22
Short-term bank loan RERITER 23

Deposits received and receipts B4tk s KM
in advance
Tax payable FERFIE 272)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REOAERE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS RERERTHAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥%E&E

Deferred tax liabilities ELHBEEE 27b)
NET ASSETS BERE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERGE
Share capital FRAR 28
Reserves e 29

Equity attributable to owners FAFHEA

of the Company EilsiEa
Non-controlling interests FRRES
TOTAL EQUITY R

The Group The Company
*5E /N

2010 2009 2010 2009
—Z-Zf ZZTNE —Z-Zf ZETNE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREFT AR®TR AREFT
6,576 6,745 - -
175,881 47,951 197 12
6,850 6,850 - -
- - 381,537 381,537
189,307 61,546 381,734 381,549
169 169 - -
33,750 32,955 - -
529,803 540,992 438,039 426,930
4,500 31,480 - -
685,503 739,266 6,475 46,475
1,253,725 1,344,862 444,514 473,405
109,703 140,968 1,066 937
9,000 16,478 - -
92,448 69,413 - -
21,204 19,722 - _
232,355 246,581 1,066 937
1,021,370 1,098,281 443,448 472,468
1,210,677 1,159,827 825,182 854,017
4,852 - - -
1,205,825 1,159,827 825,182 854,017
74,872 74,872 74,872 74,872
1,130,209 1,082,589 750,310 779,145
1,205,081 1,157,461 825,182 854,017
744 2,366 - -
1,205,825 1,159,827 825,182 854,017

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 March 2011

Jiang Quanlong &R BE
Director EZ

The notes on pages 54 to 155 form part of these financial

statements.
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At 1 January 2009 RIEENE
—A-H
Profit for the year ERgH|

Other comprehensive income A2 EMA

Total comprehensive income  2EW L5

Equity-setted share-based ~ bRALEZ
transactions k%5

Transfer to reserves EREEG

M 31 December 2009and  R-EENE
1 January 2010 tZRA=+-BR
2258
Profit for the year Rt
Other comprehensive income X2 EHA

Total comprehensive income 2 AW A£5

Dividends approved in BELEEIRS
respect of previous year

Transfer to reserves ERREG

At 31 December 2010 R-E-3%
t-f=t-A

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_Z—SF+-_A=1+—HLEEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EYE TN 1]
Enterprise ~ Statutory Share Non-
Share Share  Special  Capital expansion  surplus Translation ~option Retained controlling Total

capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests equity
LRRE  HEER L] FAR #a
R BhER RHERE RARE 1] i ERER i REEH ihit #a &R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMR'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARETI ARMTT ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTT ARETT ARETI
(Note 29()  (Note 29(il) (Note 29fil) (Note 29(v)) (Note 29(v)) (Note 29(vi) (Note 29(vi)
(skoon)  (Kissoom) (Bicooqiy) (ssoon) (Bikoo) (iskoond) (Bissoomi)

TA8T2 419009 94225 183 34541 43814 (6339 8720 395279 1,084,475 2,678 1,067,163

- - - - - = = - 88070 88,070 (812 87,788

= = = = = -y . - ) - )
= = = - = - - 800 e85 B1) 8758
= = . - = = - 51 - 51 - 5
= = - - 568 5608 - - (121 = = =

4872 419229 94,225 133 40,149 49422 (6543) 13841 472,133 1,157,461 2,366 1,159,827

- - - - - - - - 1621 16217 (1,622) 74,655

. . . - - -y - - 4]
. . . - - -y - A TSEM (162) 73002
. . . . - - - - o0 (90 - o)
- - - - 5M% 546 - - (1085) - - -

4872 410229 94,225 133 45575 54848 (7,296) 13841 509,654 1,205,081 T44 1,205,825

The notes on pages 54 to 155 form part of these financial FLAEEF1558 C B A BHRE 2

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= = B
mEBEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z—ZFT-A=1T—HLFE

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment
Bad debt recovery
Depreciation
Dividend income from available-for-sale
financial asset
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss on trade receivables
Interest expenses
Interest income
Reversal of impairment loss
on trade receivables

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

Changes in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and
other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables

Increase in deposits received and receipts
in advance

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

PRC enterprises income tax paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Payments for acquisition of prepaid
lease payment

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries

Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Py
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FMEFX

FEMA
EAREHTIRZ
RIEER&D

B & BB M5

EESSEN
FE (#Em),/ md
JEWE ST E b FRIA
w/(Em)
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R4,/ & m
Btz e R IBUGRIE N

EEXBEE (FRB) zHe
ENTEEEMER

BERBEL (FRB)Z
B&RH

REREDZHRRE

BB
Y IR R B IR K

HEM B ARG RIA
HENE  BERRE
Fﬁ_/Et

2010 2009
—EB-BF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
110,654 125,143
169 168
- (2,229)

5,417 5,300
- (5,176)
- (47)
- (1,120)

94 322

367 4,080
(3,738) (4,466)
- (100)

- 5,121
112,963 126,996
(795) 7,738
11,095 (277,419)
(31,265) 11,822
23,035 32,094
115,033 (98,769)
(29,665) (13,827)
85,368 (112,596)
3,738 4,466

- (20,800)

- 14,971
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Payments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Dividend income from available-for-sale
financial asset

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Advance from non-controlling interests
Interest paid
Repayment of short term bank loan
Proceed from short term bank loan
Payment of dividend

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalent for the year

Cash and bank balances
at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

Cash and bank balances at end of year

Analysis of the balance of cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 54 to 155 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2010
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2010 2009
-5 ZETNE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
(133,345) (475)
26,980 65,260

- 276
(102,627) 63,800

- 8,571
(367) (4,080)
(16,478) (82,000)
9,000 16,478
(27,904) =
(35,749) (61,031)
(53,008) (109,827)
739,266 849,298
(755) (205)
685,503 739,266
685,503 739,266
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ERAR 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF+_A=1+—HILEE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 1. —KEH

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the RERREEERAF ([RARF)
“Company’) was incorporated as an exempted company RASHEFIMKY A —HERR
and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability ERAA EROREEBER S
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong PRAERRAR ([BRAF]) £/ &
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the NRAElZEMPERRBEIES
registered office and principal place of business of the i Bhin ik 5 Bl ACricket Square,
Company are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
2681, Grand Cayman KYI-1111, Cayman Islands and Grand Cayman KYI-1111, Cayman
Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queens Road Central, Hong Islands & & 8 £ fa A8 995 IR
Kong, respectively. FLB302FE ©
The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) RARIREMBAR (BER[AE
are principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of ) FEHFEFREAREMEA([F
environmental protection (“EP”) products and equipment, B ®ERR ((RR]) EmERE
undertaking EP construction engineering projects, provision JEERHEE  AERRERIR
of EP related professional services in the People’s Republic BHE  RHRREBEZERB IR
of China (the “PRC”) and investment holding. B o
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEGHBE
a) Statement of compliance a) THEBH
These financial statements have been prepared in I ERMBRERERIBEMAEA
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial ZEBMBREEL (LB
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective EAAER 28R E BB
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, HER ([BEBTBHHREE
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and A - B2 g (&
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of BEMAE]) B EES
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting FTER ([HASFEA] &
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and BRRZAE) BB LEEREMN
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong G RAIRE B R EEG 2 B
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements BHEMAE - WEMBHRE
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions METEBBMERIMBRA
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities Al H EmAR R (T =R all)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ZHERARERE -  AEEIRS
(the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant CEFEGHREHMERI WM
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out e
below.
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised ERGMAGEEME T
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early FIREEI BB B REE
adoption for the current accounting period of the 8 AR AEERARTE ZA
Group and the Company. Note 3 provides information SETEEERERK AT HER
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from o ISR TEAE X
initial application of these developments to the extent ERZEERMENNERNE
that they are relevant to the Group for the current AREREHNEN - m&EH

and prior accounting periods reflected in these BHRERHREEER RS BE
financial statements. SRTHAR AR S E AR o
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2010 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments, which
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of polices and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the
financial statements and estimates with a significant
risk of material adjustment in the next year are
discussed in note 39.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR

For the year ended 31 December 2010
EEZEFTA=T—HILFE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Business combinations on or after 1 January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their acquisition-date fair values, except that:

o deferred tax asset or liability arising from
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
in a business combination and the potential
tax effects of temporary differences and
carryforwards of an acquiree that exist at
the acquisition date or arise as a result of
acquisition are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12, Income Taxes;

° liabilities or assets relating to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ERAR AL

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_T-ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE ()
(Continued)

c) Business combinations (Continued) c) EXKE6t (H#)

Business combinations on or after 1 January 2010
(Continued)

° liabilities or equity instruments relating to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree
or the replacement of an acquiree’s share-
based payment transactions with share-
based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ERAR 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_Z-ZTF+_A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

itk b g
ALY B e

Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations on or after 1 January 2010
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or another
measurement basis required by another Standard.

Where the consideration the Group transfers
in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain
purchase. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. Measurement period does not exceed one year
from the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as
an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39,
or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations on or after 1 January 2010
(Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity before the acquisition
date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ERAR 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE ()
(Continued)

c) Business combinations (Continued) c) ¥EKE6t(#|E)

u LN : :. "
b e i O

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition
was measured at the aggregate of the fair values,
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that met
the relevant conditions for recognition were generally
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised
as an asset and initially measured at cost, being
the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the recognised amounts of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If, after assessment, the Group’s
interest in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeded the cost of the acquisition, the excess was
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was
initially measured at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree.

Contingent consideration was recognised, if and only
if, the contingent consideration was probable and
could be measured reliably. Subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration were recognised against
the cost of the acquisition.

Business combinations achieved in stages were
accounted for as separate steps. Goodwill was
determined at each step. Any additional acquisition
did not affect the previously recognised goodwill.

—E—TE—A—ANNER
A6

%%L&Eﬁlfxﬁﬁi‘é}i}\ﬁﬁ Y i
RARRBEBMETHE
B FELSEENEE A
RSB REHI KB AR
BIOTRATANRFE S0
EB At E R B ERKAE
AHE - HRBABWARBIE
E RAERIABE WFE
BRAERIGMS - — RGNS
B HR A FEER -

Uit B8 B B8 8 R P AR EE O P B B
u/uﬁjé\qﬁ IH’%DL}\EZA‘EI‘
B ARBRATRAEER
ARAIEE BERKARE
MEERSENER - WEM
% NREBRFEWEARNA
BRHEE  BELRIKABED
BRSO ED SN KEK
Ao RBHENESBEAENIES
BRI HERR ©

R IR R B RO FRE AR 2R 4%
FEFRISHE 4R L B 0 16 AR
RAWEE AERKARE
MC RS EMIEVI L E -

fif AR e RN B RE S I AT BE
AEAER THIAXANK
(B - AARRENERFBIZE
BRAHER ©

DIEBETHEBEHBED
BAK - BETEDREE °
(EROECUINEE SR -7 § ke

REEE




2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests (previously known as
“minority interests”) represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at their proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with notes 2(l) or (m) depending on the
nature of the liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

P RS ERAR 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_Z-ZTF+_F=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESHBE ()

(Continued)

d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests d MHEARREZERER (F)
(Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that AEBR —EHB AR Z#m
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 28 (W EEER AT #E)
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made PIEREZR S WA HiEm
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling R AR R IEIE IR i s & R AE
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the HFE - UG RSN E
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are B MRS EEDEATHA
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised. B R R B o
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is (N I 5 [ Y= NS o)
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in 2 - I S K ek S A A
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being BARMEZE s BLESE
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in B R S B IR PN 1R A R TR o
that former subsidiary at the date when control is RREEHIEE BIIRE AT
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is Bt A RV AT TR A
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a BERR MzAEBBERZR
financial asset (see note 2(e)). MPHEReBHEER (KT

2(e)) ZRTFE -
In the company’s statement of financial position, EARRRFBMRAEKS - B
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost R A2 I E DA AR A AR B
less impairment losses (see note 2(h)), unless the BB (RHsE2(h) - BRIE
investment is classified as held for sale (or included ZIREW RIFIEHE (SET
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). ADBERFELEZHLER
Al e

e) Other investments in equity securities e) HMBAFHRKRE
The Group’s and the Company’s policies for REBRAR B 2 RAFHK
investments in equity securities, other than & (R B ARZEIN) BX
investments in subsidiaries, are as follows: R
Investments in equity securities are initially stated at BRAZBHBREVHRATE
fair value, which is their transaction price unless fair (BNERZZER) 78  E7
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation RIF—BEHIABPEAUHERM
techniques whose variables include only data from SBEIR 2 HEF AR A S fh
observable markets. Cost includes attributable TR TFERIBRIN o BRABIE
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise FEMER BRS¢ M SCRTil &
below. These investments are subsequently BRoN o W FREHBEEERTE
accounted for as follows, depending on their SEARMAT

classification:
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

e)

Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable
transaction costs are recognised in the profit or loss
as incurred. At the end of each reporting period the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or
loss being recognised in the profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in the profit or loss does not
include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out in note 2(r).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised
in the statement of financial position at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any
of the above categories are classified as available-
for-sale securities. At the end of each reporting
period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity. Dividend income from these investments
is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with
the policy set out in note 2(r) and, where these
investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in
note 2(r). When these investments are derecognised
or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group and/or the
Company commits to purchase/sell the investment
or they expire.
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2.

—Z—EF+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

a2 i

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in
the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss (see note 2(h)).

Property under construction is carried at cost less
impairment losses and includes all development
expenditure and other direct costs attributable
to such projects. They are not depreciated until
completion of construction and the asset is ready for
their intended use. Cost of completed construction
work is transferred to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-
line method, over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease or 20 years

Buildings

Furniture, fixtures 20% p.a.
and equipment

Leasehold improvements 20% p.a.

Motor vehicles 20% p.a.

Plant and machineries 10% p.a.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a
series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the
Group determines that the arrangement conveys a
right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed
period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement
and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.

i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as being held under finance leases. Leases
which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are
classified as operating leases, except for land
held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease,
which is accounted for as being held under
a finance lease, unless the building is also
clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time
that the lease was first entered into by the
Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Leased assets (Continued)

ii)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under
operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an
operating lease is amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease term
except where the property is classified as an
investment property, if any.

h) Impairment of assets

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables

Investments in equity securities other than
investments in subsidiaries (see note 2(d)) and
other current and non-current receivables that
are stated at cost or amortised cost or are
classified as available-for-sale financial assets
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (Continued)

it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
and

a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined and recognised as follows:

For unlisted equity securities carried
at cost, impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE ()

(Continued)
h) Impairment of assets (Continued) hy ¥EER{E (&)

RABZRE R EAMIE
Wk B2 R 1E ()

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities i)
and other receivables (Continued)

For trade receivables and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made
collectively where financial assets carried
at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decrease and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEEEBEK (])
(Continued)
h) Impairment of assets (Continued) h) ¥(ERE (&)
i) Impairment of investments in equity securities ) REZBFLEREME
and other receivables (Continued) Weskig .z jeE (&)
—  For available-for-sale financial assets, the - AR EemE
cumulative loss that has been recognised Ems  RAF¥E
in the fair value reserve is reclassified REERZ R E
to profit or loss. The amount of the BESEHNSEERE
cumulative loss that is recognised in = o NE=EER
profit or loss is the difference between RETEE TR EE K

the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current
fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or
loss in respect of available-for-sale financial
assets are not reversed through profit or loss.
Any subsequent increase in the fair value of
such assets is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade receivables directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h) Impairment of assets (Continued)
ii)  Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts, if
any);

- investments in subsidiaries; and

- prepaid lease payment.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e., a cash-generating
unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESEBE ()
(Continued)
h) Impairment of assets (Continued) hy ¥EERE (&)
ii)  Impairment of other assets (Continued) i) EBEMEERE (&)

Recognition of impairment losses R EREE
An impairment loss is recognised in profit & ESEFTE 2
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, HeEEBNZK
or the cash-generating unit to which it HEEE A AU [

belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce
the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or
value in use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h)

Impairment of assets (Continued)
iii)y  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of available-for-sale financial
asset and unquoted equity securities carried at
cost are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period
relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an
available-for-sale financial asset increases in the
remainder of the annual period, or in any other
period subsequently, the increase is recognised
in other comprehensive income and not profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted-average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, cost of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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i)

)]

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are contracts specifically
negotiated with a customer for the construction of
an asset or a group of assets, where the customer is
able to specify the major structural elements of the
design.

The accounting policy for contract revenue is set
out in note 2(r). When the outcome of a construction
contract can be estimated reliably, contract costs are
recognised as an expense by reference to the stage
of completion of the contract at the end of reporting
period. When it is probable that total contract costs
will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss
is recognised as an expense immediately. Where
the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the end of
the reporting period are recorded at the net amount
of costs incurred plus recognised profits less
recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the statement of financial position as
the “Amount due from customers for contract work”
(as an asset) or the “Amounts due to customers for
contract work” (as a liability), as applicable. Progress
billings not yet paid by the customer are included
under “Trade and other receivables”. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are
presented as “Deposits received and receipts in
advance”.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k)

n)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts, except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note
2(h)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings, using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

o) Employee benefits

i)

ii)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the
total estimated fair value of the share options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Employee benefits (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
profit or loss for the year under review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve. On
vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide
benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy
by having a detail formal plan which is without
realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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: 4 2.

. (Continued)

p)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Income Tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided that those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary differences
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods,
in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESHBE ()

(Continued)

p) Income Tax (Continued) p) FriS® (&)
The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax ZERARELETHEERAR
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences ZBERBIGMER - BIEEIXE
arising from the initial recognition of assets or REWLTZES R R ER
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable MmflcEEXBE (EEDT
profit (provided they are not part of a business AATEAHZEM) AR
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE ()
(Continued)

p) Income Tax (Continued) p) FriS® (&)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and BIVER AN 3% AE B A 45 24 e EL B2 B))

movements therein, are presented separately from BHEAYR - WA T o

each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are BVER RIRERI A E E R EEAR

offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax RNAEISAE BB & A 08§l #H

assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company TTREN LABNERFR 1S T IR B E 1K

or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set SHENHAFT SR IEBER - WA
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities FEUTHHEGEZBRT

and the following additional conditions are met: 73 7] 53 fll #K 8H BHA B 3 A 75 18

afs:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, — HHBEEEKARE:
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settle the liability simultaneously; or BRZEERBEZE
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

q)

r

Provision and contingencies liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit
or loss as follows:

(i)  Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are
delivered and the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred. Revenue
from sales of goods excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of
any trade discount and returns.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

v)

Contract revenue

When the outcome of a construction contract
can be estimated reliably, revenue from a
fixed price contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract.

When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.

Render of services

Revenue from professional services is
recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholders’ rights to

receive payment have been established.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s)

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”) as a majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge
a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless the exchange rates fluctuated significantly
during the period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Statement
of financial position items are translated into RMB at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

t)

u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
assets which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control
the Group or exercise significant influence over
the Group in making financial and operating
policy decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

ii) the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

iy the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

iv)  the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent,
or a close family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u)

v)

Related parties (Continued)

v) the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan
which is for the benefit of employees of the
Group or of any entity that is a related party of
the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings
with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s Chief
Executive Officer, who is the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical location.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material maybe aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The HKICPA has issued a number of HKASs, HKFRSs,
amendments and interpretations (“HK(IFRIC) - Int”)
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “New HKFRSs”)
which are effective for the financial year beginning on
1 January 2010. For the purposes of preparing and
presenting these financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2010, the Group has adopted the following
New HKFRSs that are mandatory for the first time for the
financial period beginning on 1 January 2010:
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HKAS 27 Consolidated and separate
(Revised 2008) financial statements

HKAS 39 Financial instruments:
(Amendments) Recognition and measurement

— Eligible hedged items

HKFRS 2 Group cash-settled share-based
(Amendments) payment transactions

HKFRS 3 Business combinations

(Revised 2008)
HK(IFRIC) Int 17

Distributions of non-cash assets

BREENFNY  GARBUMBRE
(ZRENFEE)

BRGENR0E  RIA: EARHE
(%) - REREMER
BEMBASENEE SENREEENROA
(%) AR ZNRRS
BEMBRSENEE FHAMK
(Z2FN\FEET)

BE (ARABRERR AEAADKAREE

to owners

259)-2ER7TH
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by the borrower of a term loan M EERNHE
that contains a repayment on
demand clause

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs Ee e ] H-STNEBBHER

(Amendments) issued in 2009 (BT5) BT IRE B M
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(Amendments) as part of improvements to (BTK) BIA  EB-EENE
HKFRSs issued in 2008 BB Ry REL R
i3

W7




Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR

For the year ended 31 December 2010

BE

3.

—E—EF+_A=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The application of these new and revised Standards
and Interpretations has not had any material impact on
the amounts reported for the current and prior years
but may affect the accounting for future transactions or
arrangements.

The Group has not early applied any of the following new
and revised standards, amendments or interpretations
which have been issued but are not yet effective for the
current accounting period:

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs
(Amendments) issued in 2010!

HKAS 12 Deferred tax: Recovery of
(Amendments) Underlying Assets?

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures®

HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues*
(Amendments)

HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of
(Amendments) Financial Assets’

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum
(Amendments) Funding Requirement®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments®

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010 and 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2011

R UPSEE e
HERNEEFEERZIBLE
EAERFE HAUEFERKR
PR A i

&R % E#a] RAEIERT

AEBEWAREFEATICHEME
A& 5T B iR A 2 ¥ AT R 48
CHESIRRCH S

BRABREER H-T-TERMHNES
(CHES) Mﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ&@
BEGENFE 1S BEWE ROREEE
(HES)

BEGHENEUT  BEALRE
(&)

RSNV O

HEY)

BEUBREENRTE BE-EREREER
HEY)

BRMBREENFOR SRMIR

Bk (ARHBRE  BAREAERRE
2EZEE)-2R

145 (B7X)

Bt (ARMpaERE NRATARHERAR
259)-2EZ19%

! RZE—ZTFLA—HE-_T——
F—A— Az &R FEHMB
AR (HEE)

8 RZT——F— A —Hzz &R
2 FEHIRE AR

g R=ZT——F—F—Bz2&MAA
2 FEHIRE AR

4 R-T—TF - F—Hsi 2 BFth
2 FEHIRE AR

8 R-ZE—TF+A— Az EH%A
2 FEHIRE AR

8 R=ZE—=F—A—Hz2&MAA
2 FEHIRE AR

7 R-ZE——F+A— Az ERH%A

2 FEHIR AR




L / 3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3.
, HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
! STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

While the adoption of those changes will result in changes
in the accounting policy, the changes are unlikely to have
any significant impact on the Group. Further information
about those changes that are expected to have a
significant impact on the Group’s policies is as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments issued in November
2009 and amended in October 2010 introduces new
requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities and for
derecognition.

- HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair
value. Specifically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting
periods.

- The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities
relates to the accounting for changes in fair value of
a financial liability (designated as at fair value through
profit or loss) attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for
financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, the amount of change in the
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to
a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as at fair value
through profit or loss was recognised in profit or

'
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_Z-ZTF+_A=1+—HILEE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning 1 January 2013 and that the
application of the new standard will have a significant
impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect
until a detailed review has been completed.

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition of
related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption of
related party disclosure to government-related entities for
transactions with the same government or entities that are
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the same government. The Group expects to adopt HKAS
24 (Revised) from 1 January 2011 and the comparative
related party disclosures will be amended accordingly.

TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER
NET (LOSS)/INCOME

Turnover S
Turnover represents the net amounts
received and receivable for goods
sold and rendering of services
by the Group

Sales of EP products and equipment

Revenue from EP construction
engineering projects

Revenue from EP related
professional services

EXRBERASEEEER
KRR mEEZ
B YR IR e R M R TR B

BRREMEEBZHE
KAERFRERIRZZHA

KA RFRBEAEZRSE 2UA

ERAMIREEITEEMNS
BEEN((FEMBEREE
A1) (%)

EEMBHRELENFIRN T —=
F—HA—BRZRFAHENFEHRE
ER - ETIREER -

BB BAMBHREENFOR
KR _F—=F—H—BRBHNF
EHEEARE G S MBEHRER AR
B R ETERA S H AR B
TREELRERABMEBRNESHE
ERERTE - A EEFAR
BBt REZFZENEER
FHAEARAITT o

BB G AERIE245% (KEET) B
MEICEBEBALTNER - ZRKIER]
ZQ ARG HEBEERER KA
i Al — RS - KRZEHIHRZ
A-—BREAFENEENRS
REBEALBRENEI#R - K
SEEHE_FT——F—A—H
HERAE B G ERIF245 (K&
7)) MEEALHENLRER I
HAEARREIERT

EXT HUlARHEMS
(B548), WA

2010 2009
—E-2F —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBTR ARBTT
627,897 421,521
13,114 179,386
5,697 8,065
646,708 608,972

L L



Other revenue
Interest income on bank deposits

Total interest income on financial
assets not at fair value through
profit or loss

Bad debts recovery

Dividend income from
available-for-sale financial asset

Reversal of impairment loss
on trade receivables

Sundry income

Other net (loss)/income
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Net exchange (loss)/gain

TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER 4.
NET (LOSS)/INCOME (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ERAR AL

For the year ended 31 December 2010

HABKA
RITFH WA

BiRBRIFE R FEIR
LEREEZ

B B
EARWK
AHHESREEZF S KA

e E 5 SRR (A B 1R i

FETAIA

Ht% (B8, WA
HE B QR 2 e
HEVE - BB &

Rz s
EX (B1R), e FaE

HE-_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HILFE

EXRG Hthg AR Hfthig
(B5R), WA (#)

2010 2009
—E—E5F —EENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETIT
3,738 4,466
3,738 4,466

- 2,229

- 5,176

- 100

31 57

3,769 12,028

- 1,120

- 47

(1,415) 8,460
(1,415) 9,627
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5.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging

the following:

Finance costs: a)
Interest on bank advances
wholly repayable within
one year

Total interest expenses on
financial liabilities not at fair
value through profit or loss

Staff costs (including directors’ b)

emoluments) (Note):

— Contributions to defined
contribution retirement
plans (Note 7)

— Equity-settled share-based
payment expenses

— Salaries, wages and
other benefits

5. FRIRALAF

BB
AR—FREHEER
ZIRITERZ S

BBBR IR A TETIER
ZERMBBEZMERAX
#E

BINAE (BREESHSE)
(Kt5t) -
— RE MR EMER
(H7£7)

— BRARBERM N RFEX

—IE&  #FeREMERN

BR B AT A 2 HIBR T 51508 ¢

2010 2009
—E-2F —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBTR ARBTT
367 4,080

367 4,080

947 1,053

- 5,121

10,416 11,154
11,363 17,328
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 5.

Note:

Other items:
Amortisation of prepaid
lease payment
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit service
— other service
Cost of inventories (Note)
Depreciation (Note)
Impairment loss on trade
receivables
Operating lease charges
— properties rental

HAIgE -
AN EE TRIE 2 # 5

23 Gilllkn
— FJiH R
— HAARH
FERAN (B1iZ)
e (Hit)
FEW B 55K 2 BB R 1R

KREHEER
- WEES

Cost of inventories includes RMB3,750,000 (2009:
RMB4,066,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation, which
amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed
separately above.
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FRIZART ()

2010 2009
—=—-25F —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT
169 168

1,191 857

410 388
483,942 313,105
5,417 5,300

94 322

1,030 1,019

wis -

FERABEARKS,750,0007T (=&
THF - AR¥4,066,000T) EEE T
BREARFENSE  ZESEITED 5
SEA LR BWBENEDHE o
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6. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represents:

Current Tax BV ER% 1R

PRC enterprise income tax AR B (b SEFTIS
— current year —REE

Deferred Tax ERERTIE

Origination of temporary differences =R E A4
(note 27(b)) (HtzE27(b)

i) The Company and its subsidiaries established
in the British Virgin Islands are not subject to
income tax.

i)~ An uniform enterprise income tax of 25%
became generally applicable to all domestic
and foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC, subject to certain exceptions or
exemptions with effect from 1 January 2008.

i)  No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has
been made for the years ended 31 December
2009 and 2010 as the Group’s income neither
arises in, nor is derived from Hong Kong.

6.

RiFSRERRIRZMFR

RiZA EHEK R 2 HIEE -

2010 2009
—e-®%| —TINF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

31,147 37,385

4,852 =

35,999 37,385

i)

ARBRENEBRE R
BHERIZMEBRRH
BB FRSH »

BE-_ZEZN\F—HF—H
B RPEBEKZAE
BEARIINEREREE
B H25% 2 &8 — 1 ¥
FrefifiE - HaE T
MR ER BRI o

B AN & B R A N FE A
BEEE MIIERBER
BB E—_ZTEASF
MZFE-—ZTF+ZA=
+—HILEFEAREEW
BB RS B 1E B
& o
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6. REER2EWBRZIMER
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (&)

(Continued)

b)  Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting b) RERABEGTE ZRIES L HE

profit at applicable tax rates:

Profit before taxation

Notional tax on profit before
taxation calculated at rates
applicable to profits in the
jurisdictions concerned

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses

Tax effect of unrecognised
temporary difference

Tax effect of unused tax losses
not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of unused tax
losses not recognised in prior year

Tax effect of withholding tax
at 10% on distributable profits
of the PRC subsidiaries

Income tax expenses

= H+/ﬁ1%IJZ§TEEﬁDT 5

2010 2009
—E=—ZTF —EENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETIT
BR 15t AL AR A 110,654 125,143
RERANERBRAER
EERM 2R
T E BRI RR T
L BETIA 28,055 32,878
BARTUA
2GR E (4,892) (2,097)
DA A S 2 o 2
5,547 3,565
;Rﬁﬁuu = H‘J‘%EZ
%z 9 13
xﬁﬁwrﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁmlﬁ
182 Mg & 2,755 3,896
BT F AR AB) A
MEZM%%; (327) (870)
R B B 2 B AT 2 R A
%;?10%%)%‘ '%zimi‘;i
RIS o 2 4,852 =
FrS %Sz 35,999 37,385




R

& ,-I.:..Z'II_\:oI_? -._::I.- =
e T A T e e

Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ERAR 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF+_A=1+—HILEE

7.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS
Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan managed by independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and
its employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. The contributions
from each of the employer and employees are subject to
a cap of HK$1,000 per month and thereafter contributions
are voluntary. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-sponsored retirement plan operated
by the local government in the PRC and these subsidiaries
make mandatory contributions to the state-sponsored
retirement plan to fund the employees retirement benefits.
The retirement contributions paid by the PRC subsidiaries
are based on a certain percentage of the relevant portion
of the payroll of all qualifying employees in accordance
with the relevant regulations in the PRC and are charged
to the profit or loss as incurred. The Group discharges
its retirement obligations upon payment of the retirement
contributions to the state-sponsored retirement plan
operated by the local government in the PRC.

A new law of the PRC on employment contracts (the
“Employment Contract Law”) was adopted by the
Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress of
the PRC in 2008 and became effective on 1 January 2008.
Compliance with the requirements under the new law, in
particular, the requirement of severance payment and non-
fixed term employment contracts, may increase the staff
costs of the Group.

1 [

BEREFI R E
EBEHARBRATTE

RIBEBR B E IR REBRHER
BEerEEHRE  AEEE L
ERSREESHBHEATESE
([BESFE]) - BESETEITIA
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g RIBARESFE - AKE (1
REEX) NHEBEBASEKE
B¢ (E&ERABHERESEH)
Z5%RZETEIERHE - BERE
BEFARBE ZHEKA1,0008 LA
IR S0 BREIMEIK - HZaTE
RN o

AEERTEMNBARZIEESZ
B rp B 3 R 4B 1 2 AR KR I ET
2 ZEMBARMZEBRED
ZRRAE I E 8158 FIE R RIA S 8
BzRABHMERESR - ZFTE
MEBLR 2 RREHKTDERME
REREEFMcBEAOL &
RETEZBBRE @ WIREAE
EZ B ABRRER - ARBER
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EREEERMYLA _TTN\F—
A—BRBER - BTFHERZA
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS (Continued)

Pursuant to the new Employment Contract Law, the
PRC subsidiaries are required to enter into non-fixed
term employment contract with employees who have
worked for more than 10 years or with whom a fixed term
employment has been concluded for 2 consecutive terms.
The employer is required to make a severance payment to
the employee when the term of the employment contract
expires unless the employee voluntarily terminates the
contract or voluntarily rejects the offer to renew the
contract in which case the terms are no worse off than
the terms of other employment contracts available to him/
her. The severance payment will be equal to the monthly
wages times the number of full years that the employee
has been working for the employer. The minimum wages
requirement has also been imposed. Fines will be imposed
for any breach of the Employment Contract Law.

The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits associated with the
schemes beyond the contributions described above.

The contributions paid which have been dealt with in
the profit or loss of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

B X R

Contributions paid

. Jé%é%%%;i;;w
T
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BEEFISRE ()

REHFLHARE  PEMELA
AEE TFI0F A B KEE
MR EERREBARZEE
AIVEBEHRBBDAR - AER
EESHARMNRIBREIAR
BEXMEHE KRIFEBEBEK
&R BBERERGERTER
HUESzEMESHERGRZA
[l - BHMEZXNBESERZESR
BATERNZEBC REEXTIE
MER - BINEERRETESR
E o HEHEAZEMERKEEL

=5
A °

AREBE R Lt KA - HABLZ
EFTEAEEMEME BRI
BRWEXREE -

HAKEEBE-FEAFR_T
—BEL-A=t—ALFE2H
HRZ BN HHEIBMT

2010 2009
—2—-25F —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFIT
947 1,053
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8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The directors of the Company were members of the
senior management of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2010 and 2009. Directors’ emoluments
disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Fees Fiakera

Salaries, allowances and e FRRHEAM
other benefits in kind BEYH =

Equity-settled share-based payments % 2 45 &R 1 - 3R

Contributions to retirement scheme RIRFTEIME R

EENS

REBEEZZTZEFR_ZFTNF+

“A=t—RULEFE ARFAES
NRASESREEEKE - RIZ
BN AMEDIE161IREE 2 ZF M

ST
2010 2009
—E-2F —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBTR ARBTT
711 746
395 398
- 1,670
25 21
1,131 2,835
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8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 8. EFE& ()

Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-E-EEt-A=t-ALEE

Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits Equity-
in kind Contributions settled
& toretirement share-based
2R scheme payments
Fees Rt &bt Sub-total BE&H Total
Name of director EERE fig ENtia BH® et Bip 8 #a

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARRTR ARBRTR AR®TR ARRTR ARWTR ARRTR

Executive directors HTEE

Mr. Fan Yajun BhERE 105 106 4 215 - 215
Mr. Gan Vi HRx4E 105 120 17 242 - 242
Mr. Jiang Lei BaiE 105 44 - 149 - 149
Mr. Jiang Quanlong BSERE 105 125 4 234 - 234

Independent non-executive BIFBTES

directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee BRI 52 - - 52 - 52
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny PEE L 187 - - 187 - 187
Professor Wang Guozhen TEYHK 52 - - 52 - 52

ol 395 25 1,131 - 1,131
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8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 8. EFi& (i)

Year ended 31 December 2009

Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits
inkind Contributions Equity-settled
% toretirement share-based
ERR scheme payments
Fees it FIREE Sub-total RAEE Total
Name of director B ik ENfla it et RBRER et

RMB'0OO ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB'OOD  RMB'000
ARBTRE  ARBTT ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARETR

Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Fan Yajun EhERE 106 103 7 216 720 936
Mr. Fang Guohong (note a) FELEE

(Wita) 26 85 - 111 - 111
Mr. Gan Vi HR%EE 106 88 7 201 288 489
Mr. Jiang Le Batst 106 - - 106 115 221
Mr. Jiang Quanlong BRELE 106 122 7 235 115 350
Independent BUEBITES

non-executive directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee BAFEE 53 - - 53 144 197
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny PEHLE 190 - - 190 144 334
Professor Wang Guozhen TEYHE 53 - - 53 144 197
746 398 21 1,165 1,670 2,835
Note: WEI P
a) Mr. Fang Guohong resigned on 25 March 2009. a) Bt — ST E= §—+
ﬂ H %ﬂf o

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the directors held R_E—EER-—TETAE+—A
share options under the Company’s share option scheme. =+—B BEREAQFERE
The details of the share options are disclosed under SRR BEERESE
the paragraph “Share Option Scheme” in the report of ﬁ%%%@i&% [BERRiEsT 2 | — &5
directors and note 30 to the financial statements. During R B 75 3R 25 M 530 o E’\E!Zf:: —
the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, no TER-—ETHE+—_A=+—A
directors of the Company had waived any emoluments HEE AAFHBEEED HEM
and no emoluments was paid or payable by the Group A4 R A £ @ 3 4 % sk e 5
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as Eﬂ@ﬂ’f{’ﬁ%ﬁ@‘;bﬂ)\‘kﬁ’\bﬂ)\$

compensation for loss of office. %@B%Zﬁ%i%ﬁ%z TR



INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 9.
EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals for the year included three
directors (2009: two), details of whose emoluments are set
out in note 8 to the financial statements. The emoluments
of the remaining two (2009: three) individuals are as
follows:

Salaries and allowances e KER
Contributions to retirement scheme RRET IR
Equity-settled share-based payments % 7 45 & R 1 - 3R

During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five
highest paid individuals (including directors and other
employees) as inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation of loss of office (2009: Nil).

The emoluments of the remaining two individuals other
than the director fall within the following bands:
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EEMeAL

FAR AUREMEALEE=M
Ex(Z2ThF M) Efe
FHIEE NI B MRMI S o R T WAL

AT (ZZZNEFE : =71) 2B
T :

2010 2009

—2—-25F —ZETNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBFIT

1,123 1,068

21 24

- 1,153

1,144 2,245

FR - BEANAUSSHMEAL (B
REFIHEMESR) XMEMMEIE
RREIMA LR IIARNE B 2 8
THREBEE (CETAFEF) -

ZEHRTMUAL (ESERIN) 2 B
SHEBIAT

2010 2009
—E—E5F —ETAEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AREET T
Bands: 471
Nil to RMB871,490 T35 AR¥871,4907T
(equivalent to HK$1,000,000) (#8E 71,000,000/ 7T) 1 2
RMB871,491 (equivalent to HK$1,000,001) AR#¥871,4917T
to RMB1,742,980 (}8E 1,000,001 7T)
(equivalent to HK$2,000,000) = AR®1,742,9807T
(#8% 72,000,000/ 7T) 1 1
2 3

Z '@puﬁgpoﬂ 2010 Zg—gfﬁ‘f—?ﬁ
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10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 10. FAFHAAEERT
THE COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of RATHEB AEEEE RN BER
the Company includes a profit of approximately R4 A R16,277,000T (ZZEZ h
RMB16,277,000 (2009: RMB43,223,000) which has been £ AR#43,223,0007T) © BEA
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company. NAZ B RMERFEEE o
11. DIVIDENDS 11. B2
a) Dividends payable to owners of the Company a) BEBRETFEAREGAZEE
attributable to the year ERE
2010 2009
—Z-ZF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARETIT

No final dividend was proposed WA IR E BIR 2 1B IR
after the end of the reporting REARR S (=BT N -
period (2009: HK4 cents R4
(equivalent to RMB3.53 cents)) (FHERAR®3.535)) - 28,213
The directors have resolved not to recommend the EZAFETREANFTERARK
payment of a final dividend for the year. B o
b) Dividends payable to owners of the Company b) ERNFAAREEAZLE
attributable to the previous financial year, BHREFERE  YREFER
approved and paid during the year. HER IS
2010 2009
—E—-ZF§ —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETTT
Final dividend in respect of the AR E R BEfE &
previous financial year, approved S EEMBREEZ
and paid during the year, REARE - B8 4 34
of HK4 cents per share (FHERARY3.495)
(equivalent to RMB3.49 cents) —ETNF &)
(2009 Nil) 27,904 -

i
i

TR D i



a)

b)

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB76,277,000 (2009:
approximately RMB88,070,000) and the weighted
average number of 800,000,000 shares (2009:
800,000,000 shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share equal to basic earnings per
share for the year ended 31 December 2010 and 2009
as the exercise price of the Company’s outstanding
share options were higher than the average market
price of the Company’s shares for the year and
therefore it is anticipated that no share option to
subscribe for the Company’s shares will be exercised.

13. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENT

Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREE
Addition during the year FARE
Disposal during the year HEHBA A
Amortisation By
Carrying amount at end of year FARIREE
Analysed by: DT :
Non-current portion JEBNHAER 17
Current portion BNEAER(

The prepaid lease payment represents prepayment of
lease premium for land situated in the PRC under medium
lease term. The amortisation charge for the year is
included in “general and administrative expenses” in the
ated statement of comprehensive income.
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12. SiREF

a) EBREFXER

ERERERTBERKR T
HEABEZMNH AR
76,277,0007C (ZEZE N F ¢
4 A R #88,070,0007T) &
A 2 % 17800,000,000/% (=
Z T 1, £ : 800,000,000/%)
R0 2 I ST E -

b) SREBERR

AR EAARR R EARTTEER
BZITHEERRARRIRG Z
FHTE BHE-Z—ZTFER
—EENF+=_A=+—HIt
FEZ2EREERNBERS
REARZF - BRFBEHAET
FRE AR RE AR AR R Bl AR D ©

13. MMAHEARR

The Group
AEE

2010 2009
—Z-ZF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
6,914 7,082
- 20,800
- (20,800)
(169) (168)
6,745 6,914
6,576 6,745
169 169
6,745 6,914

BNMAEFRERE  HBEE X
XNZERTE AN HEE -
AEREHEMNARE2E K
Rz [—BRRTBASZIA -



The Group

Cost

As at 1/1/2009
Additions

Disposal

Disposal of subsidiaries

As at 31/12/2009 and
1/1/2010

Additions
Transfer from/(to) construction

in progress
Exchange adjustment

As at 31/12/2010

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1/1/2009
Charge for the year

Written back on disposal
Disposal of subsidiaries

As at 31/12/2009 and
1/1/2010

Charge for the year
Exchange adjustment

As at 31/12/2010

Carrying amount

As at 31/12/2010

As at 31/12/2009

23

R-FFNF—A-H
B

e

HEMBAR

£
+-A
e

RS

RZEENE-F-H
REERY
HERR
HEHBAF

R-ZZNE
+-A=t-H
k=E-55-F-A

REERY

ERAZ

R_Z-TF

+-A=1+-H

Al
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ¥ - BERRMH

M
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures
held for and Plantand  Leasehold Property
own use equipment machineries improvements Motor under
#EER & BE HE  vehicles construction Total
<BF RERRG R## NREE RE  ERWR #a
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETRE ARETR
52,684 1,821 18,739 1,306 6,775 - 81,224
- 353 - - 122 - 475
- - - - (132) - (182)
- (20) - = - - 20)
52,584 2,154 18,739 1,305 6,765 - 81,547
- 161 - 553 2,576 130,055 133,345
- - - 11,012 - (11,012) -
- ) . - . . m
52,584 2,308 18,739 12,870 9,341 119,043 214,885
14,755 1,218 7877 473 4,054 - 28,377
2,392 21 1,622 251 758 - 5,300
- - - - (77 - (1
: @ : : . : “
17,147 1,491 9,499 724 4735 - 33,596
2,388 217 1,621 355 836 - 5417
= (7) = 2) = = (9)
19,535 1,701 11,120 1,077 5,571 - 39,004
33,049 607 7,619 11,793 3,770 119,043 175,881




(Continued)

The Company
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14. Y% - BE R (18)

ZNN

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold
equipment improvements

=5 - E:: = Total
BERRME MmERE b= b ]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETRT ARETT
Cost B
As at 1/1/20009, RZZEZNF—HA—H -
31/12/2009 and —EENF
1/1/2010 +=-—A=+—H
R-—ZT—T%—HF—H 183 - 183
Additions KRB 37 254 291
Exchange adjustment PE R (7) - 7)
As at 31/12/2010 R-ZZE—ZTF
+=—A=+— 213 254 467
Accumulated depreciation  RiHITE
As at 1/1/2009 R-_ZEThF—HA—H 80 = 80
Charge for the year NEEZFRER 91 = 91
As at 31/12/2009 and R-ZZEZTNF
1/1/2010 +=—A=+—H
r—ZE—ZTF—F—H 171 = 171
Charge for the year REEZRZ 28 80 108
Exchange adjustment P& 5 (7) ) 9)
As at 31/12/2010 R —2F
+=-—A=+—§H 192 78 270
Carrying amount REE
As at 31/12/2010 R-ZE—TF
+t=-—A=+—8H 21 176 197
As at 31/12/2009 RZEZTNF
+=-—A=+—8” 12 = 12
a)  All the buildings are situated in the PRC and are held a) FIBAEFHRFEILRE+

under medium-term lease.

HEGRRFE -
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET 15. AfHHESMEE

The Group
T5E
2010 2009
—E—ZF§ —ETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Unlisted equity securities in the PRC, WA E 2 A
at cost I ETRAFE

Balance at beginning of year FYEE 6,850 1,950
Addition INE - 4,900
Balance at end of year FRERR 6,850 6,850

LHEEHREMNKREESET
MRS Z A E 8 Z5%M A -
ERIAYIIREHESTMRE -
FE EMRRRE 75 B X R BB T 15

The carrying value of the above unlisted investment
represents 5% equity interest in a private entity
incorporated in the PRC. The financial instrument is not
held for short-term trading. The unlisted equity securities

were carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses FrsRER R E QX ENEER ST
as they do not have a quoted price in an active market 2 WHEBRRERKARZETRE
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. E518 o
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. WIIBARZERE
The Company
b 3/
2010 2009
—Z-ZTF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
Unlisted shares, at cost B ANEHE 7 3E AR D 381,537 381,537
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NI
(Note 18) (H1a#18) 435,429 412,916

KM BARREREERR 28
ZRANEFIER

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand. MIEIE

A

lll'l.. &

T RN AR e Iill- PR
oy s a1 A A



16.

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MELTRE
Pan Asia Environmental

Protection Technologies
Limited

Dragon Commend Limited

Wuxi Pan Asia
Environmental Protection
Technologies Limited
(“Wuxi Pan Asia”)

B DIRAEHR
BRAF
([EHZE])

Place of
incorporation
and type of
legal entity
MR
HREELE

British Virgin
Islands, limited
liability company

KBRLES
BRAR

British Virgin
Islands, limited
liability company

RERLES
ARRA

The PRC,
wholly-
foreign-owned
enterprise

HE SN
BELE

Notes to the Financial Statements
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered
capital
BERTR
WERE
EmEE

Us$100/
Ordinary Share
100%7,/
AR

Us$1/
Ordinary Share
1%/
B

US$13,280,000/
Registered Capital
13,280,000% 7% /

EE A

B=E

—T—EF+_A=+—HItFE

16. RB AT ZKRE (&)

Group’s
effective
interest
F5E
ERER

100%

100%

Principal activities
and place of
operations
IERBR
REE

Investment holding,
in Hong Kong
REZRK  &BE

Not yet commence
business,
in Hong Kong
EEER BA

MERBFENT :

Proportion of ownership interest
BRELA

Held Held
by the by a
Company subsidiary
::E- BB
G N2 ]
100% =
100% -
= 100%

100%

Z '@puﬁgpoﬂ 2010 Zg—gfﬁ‘f—?ﬁ

Manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment and
undertakes
EP construction
engineering
projects,
in the PRC

RREMRREL
BUE R HE Rokdx
RREHRLRE
ER - HE




Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_T-ZEF+-A=+—HILFE

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 16. RIBATZIRE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

BERELH
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation registered Group’s Held Held  Principal activities
and type of capital effective by the bya and place of
legal entity B#{TR interest Company subsidiary operations
Name of subsidiary HMAIR BERE F5H ::E mME FEXER
MEAEEE ERRENE Mk EREE OLOFRE OFRT  BENE
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, HK$100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Manufacture and
Protection (China) wholly- Registered Capital sales of EP
Company Limited foreign-owned  100,000,000/87T,/ products and
wDRR (RE) BRAR enterprise g A equipment and
R Mg undertakes EP
BELE construction
engineering
projects,
in the PRC
RREmRREL
SUE R 8 RAdk
RRERIRE
BH
Wuxi Zhong Dian Kong The PRC, RMB5,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding,
Leng Technology Limited domestic- Registered Capital in the PRC
EHT R ELRB invested limited N BB BE
BRAR liability company ~ 5,000,0007% /
B - SERRE AR A
BRAF
EERROREBRAR The PRC, RMB10,000,000/  100% - 100%  Undertakes
([BEDEE ) domestic- Registered Capital EP construction
invested limited AR engineering
liability company ~ 10,000,0007T / projects,
hE - ERRE BRIIEN in the PRC
ARAA RERRER
THRER

i == Y ¥

T r"n,

e -I-Il.f_f,:'.l 4‘ i At f ‘ :.? j Wy
L et e e TR



16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WELRER

Shanghai Environmental
Engineering Design &
Research Institute
Limited (“SEEDRI)

HERETRRER
BRAR (155
TRkl

Rz )57k ER IR
BRAT

B ERARG TR
BRAR
(IE®zs))

s %Wﬁf” '
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Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation registered
and type of capital
legal entity BERTR
HEMEILR #ERE
ERRENE i3S
The PRC, RMB10,750,000/
joint stock Registered Capital
limited company AR
RE - Rip 10,750,0007T,/
ARAR R
The PRC, RMB2,000,000/
domestic- Registered Capital
invested limited AR
liability company ~ 2,000,0007T /
HE - BRRE s AR AR
BRAR
The PRC, RMB10,000,000/
joint stock Registered Capital
limited company AR
e - R 10,000,0007T
BRRAA] AR

16. RB AT ZKRE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

BRELLE

Group’s Held Held
effective by the by a
interest Company subsidiary
*5E kY 0]
ERER OFRE LFRH
70.05% - 70.05%
70.05% - 100%
49.04% - 70%

@_n

ual Report 2010 » —E—FF 3

Principal activities
and place of
operations
IEXBR
HEEHE

Provision of
professional
Services,
in the PRC

R
ka5 -

Manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment and
undertakes EP
construction
engineering
projects,
in the PRC

RRERRE
LRERHER
REERRERTIE
BH A

Manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment and
undertakes EP
construction
engineering
projects and
provision of
professional
services,
in the PRC

RIRERREE
ZBUERHER
EERRERIR
R R ER
R - &




p

Notes to the Financial Statements

R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_T-ZEF+-A=+—HILFE

17. INVENTORIES

Raw materials B
Work-in-progress E 8
Finished goods BIFK

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense is as follows:

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZEAE

17. #K
The Group
*ERE

2010 2009
—E—-ZF —TETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
13,873 7
15 -
19,862 32,948
33,750 32,955

RERBAIZFESEAMNAT ¢

The Group
x5EE
2010 2009
2§ ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
483,942 313,105
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. Bk B H R HEMKRIE
The Group The Company
HEE N
2010 2009 2010 2009
B | —TTHE | ZB-BF | —ZTNE

RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000
ARBTR | ARETL | ARWTR | ARBTT

Trade receivables EUE 558 209,608 177,685 - =
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts J : RERE (1,156) (1,062) - -

208,452 176,623 - =

Other receivables H fth FEUFRIR 132,422 134,944 111 =
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts & : RIRE & (147) (147) - =
132,275 134,797 111 -

Amount due from a related FEU—TEI A8 A A

company (Note 19) B (B1iF19) - 2,028 - 2,028
Amounts due from subsidiaries PP B A R R

(Note 16) (#1:E16) - - 435,429 412,916
Loans and receivables ER R EWGRE 340,727 313,448 435,540 414,944
Prepayments and deposits BRFERES 72,430 34,361 2,499 11,986
Other tax recoverables Hipa B & 1,769 9,078 - -
Amounts due from Bl EFEL

customers for contract TREFIE

work (Note 26) (Hf:#26) 114,877 184,105 - =

529,803 540,992 438,039 426,930

The amount of the Group’s and the Company’s AREBEARATTEHER —EBI
prepayments and deposits expected to be recovered Blsk R AR ZENMRE RIS
or recognised as expense after more than one year is D RlAAR®E249,000T (ZEEH
RMB249,000 (2009: RMB360,000) and RMB249,000 £ AR ¥360,0007T) kAR
(2009: RMBS360,000) respectively. All of the trade and 249,000t (T ZF N F: AR%
other receivables (including amounts due from a related 360,0007T) ° BRHTE18(a)fr it E &
company and subsidiaries), apart from the quality 1R E S 4 A R #22 389,0007T (=
retention monies of approximately RMB22,389,000 (2009: T E A FE: AR #1,072,0007T)
RMB1,072,000) mentioned in note 18(a) are expected to SN FREREWE 5 REMZIE (81

be recovered or recognised as expense within one year. FEW—EEEAT RN BATZIA)

BHR —FAREHERRFAX °

. L?bfc%Wﬁ;z
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

a)

Ageing analysis

Trade receivables are net of allowance for doubtful
debts and with the following ageing analysis
presented as of the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0&30X
31-60 days 31260K
61-90 days 61290k
91-180 days 91 180K
181-365 days 181E365K
Over 365 days 365 A

Trade receivables are due within 60 days from the
date of billing.

The Group normally grants credit terms from 1
to 2 months to its customers. Trade receivables
generally include the balances yet to be due such
as the quality retention monies of approximately
RMB72,981,000 (2009: RMB41,654,000) (typically
5% to 20% of the total contracted value) that are
retained by the customers until the fulfilment of
the warranty period of generally 1 to 2 years and
receivable pursuant to the payment terms of the
respective contracts.

18. BB B RAMKIEA (H)

a)

R 70 AT

PR 5 R R A -
R0 SR H K 2 51 2 B A7
o :

2010 2009
—E—ZTF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETFIT
104,110 61,525
20,057 12,651
5,003 2,725
25,438 15,915
27,471 15,407
26,373 68,400
208,452 176,623

FEWE S IAHEH ARE AR
BOKR A EIH]

AEBEBEESRAREFPET1E2
BRAZEEH - EIE 5 5IE
—REERBHE - RE
FB A2 AT EFRE YR -
HEFREBEZRTE A1E2
F2ERBARTAILEZEER
BB ARET2981,000
T(ZEZENF: AR
41,654,0007T) (—MABEHR
BEZ5%E20%) °




18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b)

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables
are recorded using an allowance account unless
the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is
remote, in which case the impairment loss is written
off against trade receivable directly (see note 2(h)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
during the year, including both specific and collective
loss components, is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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18. BB B RAMKIEA (H)

b)

At 1 January R—H—H
Impairment loss recognised EERBEBE
Reversal of impairment loss MEREYEtdE

At 31 December Rnt+=-—A=+—8H

There were no movements in the allowance account
for other receivables.

As at 31 December 2010, trade receivables of
approximately RMB1,156,000 (2009: approximately
RMB1,062,000) were individually determined to be
impaired and full allowance had been made. These
individually impaired receivables were outstanding
for over 90 days as at the end of reporting period or
were due from companies with financial difficulties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

. Jgéég%%é;i;;w
T

PE W B 5 FRIE 2 R B

FEURE 5 3B 2 R AR TR
BERPER  BIEALER
ElEZEEE 2 AT ERE -
AlZREEESEERERE
S EFR M (REE2(N) °

FARGBREED (BREFE
RERERID) WT

2010 2009
—=2—-25F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT
1,062 840

94 322

- (100)

1,156 1,062

Hh FE W SRIE 2 B R D A
@ °

RZE—ZFFF+_A=+—
B BRESZREBHARE
1,156,0007C (ZZEZNFE : 4
AR#1,062,0007T) B 1E7IE
TEARE - WIEH 2 EEE -
72 5 & BRI B 2 FE W IE A
S HR B BB RO0H - sk A
AR 2 ARKRAT o A&
B ZELEHRITERE TAK
7Y
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

The factors which the Group considered in
determining whether these trade receivables were
individually impaired included the following:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

o receivables that have been outstanding for a
certain period;

o the granting to the debtor, for economic or
legal reasons relating to the debtor’s financial
difficulty, a concession that the Group would
not otherwise consider;

o it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

o significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor;

. BERARAMBRIF ()

b)

W E 5 RE2mE (&)

REBRETZSERE SN
HEAEERRERMEREZ
HA=EMT -

s BEBRABEAMBIN

s BRAHN mMEHRIE
ABENBHEAE

s RFEBEEHER —BE
H

s AKEHEERBEEBAZ
MG EBEX
AEEHR BTEBA
—EAEEEEMIBFR
TTEERZEY

s BERABAIEHERE
TTEME B EA

o BB -WH - BEIE
BRREBERANE I
HEBABTFFE




18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

c)

Trade receivables that are past due but not
impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past
due but not impaired are as follows:

Less than 1 month past due wHAL A1 {E A
1 to 3 months past due #ER1 = 31E B
More than 3 months past due w1 EAR B (E A

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.
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18. BB B R HAMKIEA (H)

c)

BB B R E 2 B E 7 K
"

BB HEREE 2 B E F K

B2 BRI DTN
2010 2009
—2—-25F —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT
30,343 25,488
13,125 34,110
16,430 29,973
59,898 89,571

s

 Annual Report 2010 » —F—%45 54

BE R 780 8 IR AR OB (B 2 FE W SR TR
B % 23 BB 46 ROBE SRR R
EFAH -

B 8 BB KRR E 2 e Y R 0R B
SEBREAKREERIER
L ZBITFAR - ERXB
TR BRNEEERYES
RENAZERBIDRERT
2RO WEREREHA
LA BSRBELRERRE - &
SEYVERERXERELEN
Efm e
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

d) Other receivables d)

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

Included an amount of approximately
RMB97,230,000 (2009: RMB93,000,000) advanced
to the local government departments of Guannan
County, Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province. The
management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of this balance as the
balance is still considered fully recoverable.

Included a total amount of approximately
RMB20,000,000 (2009: RMB20,000,000) arising
from disposal of subsidiaries in 2009. The
management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of this balance as the
balance is still considered fully recoverable.

19. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED

18. BB B RAMKIEA (K)

H fth P& W 5K 1R

ZRETEAR - 2B RAR
ZRENRFER

BIERIEL A REI7,230,000
T(ZEZFENF: AR
93,000,0007T) B B 7)1 %
EEEEMERGE RS
P EREME  ARZER
BNWAHRA ZE8URE - ek
BEBIERERE -

Frst ARBEAEEXEHOARK
20,000,0007C (ZZEZ JLF -
A R #20,000,0007T) Jh A =
ZENFHREMBRARIELE -
BIEERE - BARZERED
WA AN 2 E -t ERREE
BIEREREME -

19. Bl —RIRELTRR

COMPANY
The Group and the Company EEEAREFLT
Year ended Maximum amount
31 December outstanding
BE+-A=1+—H REE
LLEE RE&H
2010 2009 2010 2009
Name of —E-ZF | _TTNF | ZB-BF | ZTTNF
company Connected party RMB’000 RMB’000 | RMB’000 RMB’000
YNGR RER ARBTRE | ARETT | ARBTR | ARETT
YY Holdings A company in which  ARARIESE
Limited Mr. Jiang Lei and BaTER
Mr. Jiang Quanlong,  BR#Ex4
directors of the REFHES
Company, have fonl) Fn
beneficial interest pd/NC]
- 2,028 2,028 2,033

The amount due from a related company was of a non-
trade nature and was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

FEW —FRREARFIABIER T
g BEREER 2ERAREX
BB &K ©

BT ko b ik g A




20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

A major position of the cash and bank balances for
the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 was
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international money market. The exchange
rate of RMB is determined by the Government of the
PRC and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC
is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the
Government of the PRC. The bank balances carry interest
at market rates range from Nil to 0.36% (2009: Nil to
0.36%) per annum.

21. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Shanghai Pan-Asia Environmental
Protection Industrial Development Limited

(EBZRRREXERBRAT)

FEIRKEZRARAF

Total (Note 22) A&t (Hit22)

The amounts are of a non-trade nature and are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. During the year,
the above non-controlling interests disposed of all their
equity interests in the investee company to an independent
third party and all the amounts due were reclassified as
other payables.
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. BeRkRITRER

REBEE-_Z—ZFR_ZFZTHhF+
— A= + EIJJ:¢T ABHBRE
MERITHRBAARE (REBREMT
BETeHBEREB 2 ER) 5@ -
AE%E%EEEPIE&F;#E s
BIEL FalE S - B BB
B 0 2 SNEE 5 2R PR o SR 1T 45 SR T
BT R036% (ZETNF: T&
0.36%) 2 TiHFF= -

21. BUSFERERRTA

The Group
FEH
2010 2009
—E—-Zf§ —ZTThE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT

- 10,401
- 933

- 11,334

REBIERZMEE - AREEM -
RERARERKAFFER - U L3
ERERNFANBLE=THE
BERBBRERRZABRE - M
REENRACENR OB REME
5KIA -

Z '@puﬁgpoﬂ 2010 Zg—gfﬁ‘f—?ﬁ
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Accruals and other payables

Amounts due to non-controlling

interests (Note 21)
Amount due to a director
(Note 24)
Amount due to a related
company (Note 25)

Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost

Other PRC tax payables

22 ERARAEMKRIEA

The Group The Company
FEME 27
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF | —_TTHE | ZB—BF | —_TThE
RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000
ARBTRE | ARETT | ARBTRE | ARETT
B8 5 5%IE 59,025 77,198 - -
FEETE R K EA
FESF5RIA 45,888 47,563 1,066 937
FE 1 FER AR 4 5 5UOE
(Hiaz21) - 11,334 - =
FEft— (U EE A
(Hfat24) 1,531 1,223 - _
FE —RRREA A
KIA (K1iE25) 5 = - =
LA SH A AR R = )
CREE 106,449 137,318 1,066 937
H e rp B R IR 3,254 3,650 - -
109,703 140,968 1,066 937

a) Ageing analysis of trade payables

The Group normally receives credit terms of 30
days from its suppliers. The ageing analysis of trade

payables is as follows:

0 to 30 days

31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

A

lll'l.. &

B i 570l
an P L O e P T B
Ly e a1 s A

0% 30H
31£60H
61%90H
91£180H
181%2365H
365H LA

a) ENEZRRZIRED T

AEE-REEHERR T30
RZIEEH - BNESERRZ

BRECHITANTE -
The Group
*TERHE
2010 2009
—E—ZF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
10,024 59,054
304 1,300
1,383 30
958 578
1,930 4,592
44,426 11,644
59,025




23.

24.

22.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
b) Accruals and other payables

Included a total amount of approximately
RMB11,370,000 which was reclassified from
“Amounts due to non-controlling interests” as the
non-controlling interests disposed of all its equity
interest in SEEDRI to an independent third party
during the year. The amount due is unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.

Included an amount of approximately
RMB14,029,000 (2009: RMB14,029,000) due to a
former subsidiary. The amount due is unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.

SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS

At 31 December 2010, the bank loan of the Group is
secured, carrying interest at variable-rates of 6.06% -
6.97% per annum and is repayable within 1 year. The bank
loan of the Group is secured by a building of the Group
with a carrying amount of approximately RMB880,000
(2009: RMB918,000).

At 31 December 2009, the bank loan of the Group was
secured, carrying interest at the fixed rate of 2.17% per
annum and was repayable within 1 year. The bank loan
of the Group was secured by bank deposits of the Group
amounting to RMB16,480,000. During the year, the bank
loan was fully repaid.

AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

BRBESLE

Jiang Quanlong

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

22,

23.

24,

' '.;'.'g‘apqglggpm 2010 » —2-BEEH
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EARARAEMKREA ()
b) REFEARAMENRE

BREFTEBAEHDARE
11,370,0007T & [ & 1+ 3645 %
EHERPEHSE @
REANIEIE IS HE H R IR
R FEbT 2 2 FPA%E T8
SMEZF o ZFATERR -
% B R ERESKENEER o

M IB#H AR #14,029,000
T(ZZEZENF: ARE
14,029,0007tT) FE 1 T A ffl B
NE] o B NEET - &8
R BIR BN E R o

HESITHER

N-ZE—ZFTFE+_A=+—H " &
SEZROTEFRAEBEBREN 1%
FEENEE.06%E6.97 % B KA
R—FREE - AEEZRITER
AEEFERMmEL ARKS880,0007T
(ZZEZNF : AR#918,0007T)
B o

RZBEAFE+_A=+—H &
SEZHETERBERBEER &
BEENER21A7%H B RAR — 4
REE - AEEZRITERAER
1717 W E A R #16,480,0007T 4
e TR RITERDEEEE -

Ef—MEERTA
The Group

*EE
2010 2009
—=2—-25F —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
1,531 1,223

AZRBTERIR - R B RARER

BOEF AR ©
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25. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

25. Eft—HRELFTIREA

Name of company Connected party The Group
kL REA r 3L
2010 2009
—S—BF | —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
Osram (China) Fluorescent Materials A company in which
Co., Ltd. (“Osram”) Mr. Jiang Lei and
BLRIRA (RE) XM AR AR Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
([BtRIRA L) directors of the Company,
have beneficial interest
ARBIEERBZEER
BREEEREFHES
ol Sy d/NC] 5 -

The amount due to a related company is of a trade nature

and is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. g HREiEH
BRFE 5K o
26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR 26. BRERSNIERR

CONTRACT WORK
RIMERRATZERBAL

Contract work-in-progress at the end of reporting period:

The Group
x5KH
2010 2009
—E=-Z5 T NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
Contract costs incurred to date SHEEZ & LKA 171,323 162,789
Recognised profits less recognised losses Eﬁ% R IR B HERRE 18 75,686 70,817
247,009 233,606
Less: Progress billings W HEE A (132,132) (49,501)
Amounts due from customers R FEEHTERE

for contract work 114,877 184,105

In respect of construction contracts in progress at the BRRBREMRAZERTIRESH
end of the reporting period, the amount of retention REZE—FET-_A=1T—HZ [/
receivables from customers, recorded within “trade W 5 R A BT 71 FE YR P 2 AR
receivable” at 31 December 2010 is RMB4,708,000 BIIE A ARA4,708, 0007c(4?
(2009: RMB10,628,000). The amount of those retentions %ﬁﬁ AR¥10,628, OOOTE;;)th

expected to be recovered after more than one year is FHEH Hé’rﬁﬁ‘__ifﬁuﬁl@Zﬁﬁam

RMBNil (2009: RMB1,072,000). Receipts in advance from RBAREET (ZTFTNEF AR
customers for contract work amounted to RMB15,040,000 1 072 0007T) ° T8 HSZE)E AHTITE
(2009: RMB45,624,000). 78 /& A B #515,040,0007T (= Zd
TNEF : AEM45,625,0007E) 3

el

G ,"1.“' Ff.c!r:\ I



27. INCOME TAX IN THE STATEM
FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes to the Financial Statements

PSR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_T-ZF+-_A=+—HILEFE

ENT OF 27. BERARRZHRER

a) Current taxation in the statement of financial a) MBRRERAZNBHRERE
position represents
The Group
*EH
2010 2009
—E—-ZF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
Provision for PRC enterprise R 1 ZE PSR B A
income tax 31,147 37,385
Tax paid B EE (21,128) (8,712)
10,019 28,673
Balance of PRC enterprise HBAFFERBZ
income tax relating to prior year — FREI{® TS 4B 11,185 (8,951)
Tax payable eI 21,204 19,722
b) Deferred taxation b) EZEHE
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised FRREGA TSR RIER
in the consolidated statement of financial position EEFIA A E 2 AKX D k&
and the movements during the year are as follows: ok
Withholding
tax of
undistributed
profits Total
KB iRRH
ZTRNR #5t
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBFT
At 1 January 2009, RZZEThF—HA—H8-
31 December 2009 and ZZTNE+TZA=1T—H
1 January 2010 k=—Z2—FF—H—H - -
Charged to profit or loss st AREE= (f7:26(a)
(Note 6(a)) 4,852 -
At 31 December 2010 RZZ2—ZF+-H=+—H 4,852 -

s

= J@p%pﬂt 2010 » Zg—g
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

Pursuant to the New Enterprise Income Tax Laws,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from foreign investment
enterprise established in the PRC. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
arrangement between the PRC and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
tax rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable to
withholding taxes on dividend distributed by those
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008 onwards.
The Group recognised deferred tax liabilities in
respect of expected distributable earnings from
its subsidiaries established in the PRC since 1
January 2008 with reference to the Group’s dividend
policy, no matter whether such earnings have been
declared or not by the subsidiaries at the reporting
date. The directors of the Company will review the
funding requirements of the Group from time to time
and revise the dividend policy of its subsidiaries as
appropriate.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of tax
losses of RMB14,270,000 (2009: RMB12,100,000)
as it is not probable, that future profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

27. MBRRRAZER (1])

b)

EERE (&)

RBFEEMEVL - ETE
PRI EVINE R ERINEIRE
AT &K B B BB B 1 0% A 31
B REB-_ZZENF—A
—HEAXK BRAR_TZt
FT_A=+T—BENAEHN -
fief o B B HNEE 4 B 3 P RDA
RETEHBEZHE - HATRK
BN EHLIEHN - LAEHE
mE - @A EKI0% - A
it AREB AL BRI
MBARR _ZETNF—H—
B AR EE A 1O B N P 00 I O B
EHMENKR - 58 —FF)N
F—HA—HREEFRBKIZD
B AR FEHI A o R &N T
5 ARERBERERE
BRELEHRBRE BB
RAINBEARBEIREHIL
BIREZERN - ARAES
ARG ARENES R
Ko RBEEREREKE AR
A BBGR o

ARRAERRI A 2SI
BTSSR E

RZZE—ZSEFER_ZTTNEF+
—A=+—8 AEEIL ERE
R EE A RE14,270,000
T(ZZEZNF: ARKE
12,100,0007T) Z REF A&
E BAAEE@AHBIEERKR
B RE I 1 AT BEENAS AR 2R A A
IR S B 18 -
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. &
Authorised and issued share capital ETE REEITIRA
Number of
shares Amount
BipEHE kof ]
’000 HK$’000
ol FiE&xT
Authorised VETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RIETENER-_ZE—ZTF
as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 +=—A=+—H
TRERERAEME01AET 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RZBENFR-_ZT—ZF
as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 +=—A=+—H
LB AT AR E(EO0. 175 T 800,000 80,000

Equivalent to RMB74,872,000
HER ARK%74,872,0007T

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive LTBEREEABRER TSR
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled REXBEERRNAG ARG EUFR
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. —ERE - 2T AERE AR FF
All ordinary shares rock equally with regard to the HREEMS BRZE -

Company’s residual assets.

W7

.‘f‘g;'
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29. RESERVES

The Group

At 1 January 2009 WZZENE-A-R

Profit for the year Epigfl

Other comprenensive 2 EUA
income

Total comprehensive FEAHA
income

Equity-setled RAEERAR S
share-based transactions

Transfer to reserves BEDRE

At 31 December 2009  R-EENE
and 1 January 2010 +ZB=t+-Ak

“I-2f-f-H

Profit for the year ERig

Other comprehensive ~ Efb2EHA
income

Total comprehensive ETLON
income

Dividends approvedin Bt FEEZRE
respect of previous year

Transfer to reserves BEDRE

At31 December 2010 R-E-E£
T=f=t-H

29. fEfi
*TKE
Enterprise  Statutory
expansion  surplus Share
Share  Special ~ Capital  reserve  reserve Translation option  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve 3 3 EE  reserve  reserve  profits

i 1) Bx & g Ef  WEE #e Total
b | 1] 1 | 1 ] 1 ] 1 ] 1 | it it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

(Note (J) ~ (Note (i)  (Note (i)  (Note(y)  (Note(v)  (Note(vi) (Note (vil)

(srm) (s (Makgn)  OWshe))  (aw)  RE)) (ki)
419229 94,225 133 34,541 43,814 (6,338) 8720 395,279 989,603
- - - - - - - 8070 88070
- - - - - (205) - - (208)
- - - - - (205) - 8070 87,865
= = = = = = 5,121 = 5121
= = - 5,608 5,608 - - (11,216) -
419229 94,225 133 40,149 49,422 (6,543) 13,841 472,133 1,082,589
- - - - - - - 76217 76,217
- - - - - (753) - - (753)
- - - - - (753) - 76217 75524
- - - - - - - (271,904 (27,904)
- - - 5,426 5,426 - - (10,852 -
419229 94,225 133 45575 54,848 (7,296) 13,841 509,654 1,130,209
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. RESERVES (Continued) 29. R (&)

The Company b 3/
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share retained
Share  Contributed  Translation option profits
premium surplus reserve reserve  (RiBR)/ Total
EindR BARR ER G RERE REAT #x

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
(Note ) (Note (i) (Note (vi) (Note (i)
(Fitsx() (FizE(w) (R (s i)

At 1 January 2009 RZZThE-A-A 419,229 372,178 (26,413) 8,720 (41,747) 731,967
Profit for the year FRET - - - - 43,223 43,223
Other comprehensive income E2ERA - - (1,166) - - (1,166)
Total comprehensive income *HEER - - (1,166) - 43,223 42,057
Equity-settled share-based transactions R ERH% 7 - - - 5,121 - 5,121
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE

and 1 January 2010 +-A=1-H

k=2-Z%-A-H 419,229 372,178 (27,579) 13,841 1,476 779,145

Profit for the year FERgF = - - - 16,277 16,277
Other comprehensive income A 2ENA - - (17,208) - - (17,208)
Total comprehensive income 2EERT = = (17,208) = 16,277 (931)
Dividend approved in respect Btk LEE ZRE

of previous year - - - - (27,904) (27,904)
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-%5F

+-A=+-8 419,229 372,178 (44,787) 13,841 (10,151) 750,310
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29. RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves

i)

ii)

i

iv)

124magmﬂmmgﬁpﬁﬁﬁﬁwm§t-

'f"n‘

g
A L 1

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account of the Company
is distributable to the owners of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value and share
premium of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for
the acquisition at the time of reorganisation.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess capital
contribution from the non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary — #F %z 22 of the Group.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares
issued by the Company and the net assets value of
subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares
pursuant to the group reorganization immediately
prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on 1
December 2007.

Enterprise expansion reserve and statutory surplus
reserve

Statutory surplus reserve and enterprise expansion
reserve are non-distributable. Appropriations to such
reserves are made out of profit after taxation of the
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries
while the amount and allocation basis are decided
by their board of directors annually. The statutory
surplus reserve can be used to make up prior year
losses of the PRC subsidiaries, if any, and can
be applied in conversion into capital by means of
capitalisation issues. The enterprise expansion fund
is used for expanding the capital base of the PRC
subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

29. f#fm (&)

BEZHERE N
) RGuE
RIRBES RS A% (EE

1)

i)

iv)
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. RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
vi)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(s).

vii)  Share option reserve

The share option reserve of the Company and the
Group arose upon on the grant of share options of
the Company and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 2(0).

Distributable reserves of the Company

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of share premium and contributed surplus
if (i) it is, or would after the payment be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due, or (i) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its share capital account.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders amounted
to approximately RMB781,256,000 (2009:
RMB792,883,000), computed in accordance with the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman islands and
the Company’s articles of association. This includes
the Company’s share premium of approximately
RMB419,229,000 (2009: RMB419,229,000) and
contributed surplus of approximately RMB372,178,000
(2009: RMB372,178,000), less accumulated losses of
approximately RMB10,151,000 (2009: plus retained
profit RMB1,476,000), which are available for distribution
provided that immediately following the date on which a
dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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29. f#fm (&)
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 1 December 2007. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected participants as incentive or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options
to the following eligible participants:

)

i

Vi)

vii)

viil)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time,
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
the Group holds an equity interest;

any non-executive director (including independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

30.
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. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares
commenced on the Main Board (“General Scheme Limit”).
The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme is 80,000,000 (including those
granted but yet to be exercised), representing 10% of
the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
participant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue during the 12-month period
before the date of grant without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Any grant of options under the
Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associate (as defined under the Listing Rules)
must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million within any 12-month period must be approved by
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

Unless otherwise determined by the directors of the
Company and stated in the offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, there is no minimum period required under the
Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before
it can be exercised.
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30. MRBxHERTE (48)
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. MRERHERD (1)

An offer for the grant of options to a grantee shall be
accepted by no later than 21 days from the date of offer.
HK$1 per grant of options is payable on the acceptance
of the grant of options. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and expiring in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or upon the expiry of the tenth anniversary
of the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the earlier.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the
date of the offer of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 1 December 2007.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. MEBRMEATE ()
a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed a) TXEIFNEFEZEREZ
during the year are as follows, whereby all options BRI REE - B A
are settled by physical delivery of shares: BE R RE AR 1 B W S U A 4
B

Number of

shares

issuable

under options

granted

REFRZ
PR {8 Vesting  Contractual
AFRITZ conditions life of options
Bir& 8 A Wi SHER

Granted to directors: BTEE 2HERE
- on 14 May 2008 ——2FN\F 5,800,000 one year 10 years
HA+MA —F +45
Granted to employees: BYEE ZEBHE

- on 14 May 2008 ——ZETNF 12,000,000 one year 10 years
A ATHEA —& &

Total number of shares BRI FTI% 2 B A 2
issuable under options A T B TR0 4 8
granted 17,800,000
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. MRERHERTD (1)

b) The number and weighted average exercise price of b) MEREZEE RMETFHIITE
share options are as follows: BaR
2010 2009
—Z-Z% “TTNE
Number of Number of
Weighted shares issuable Weighted shares issuable
average under options average  under options
exercise granted exercise granted
price BEFE price REFTE
MiEEy  BRETRT METY  BRETET
fTER ZBRIBBE 18 2R EER
Outstanding at the beginning ~ EFHKTE
of the year HK$2.81# 7T 17,800,000 HK$2.817% 7T 17,800,000
Granted during the year FRRL - - - -
Outstanding at the end FRERTE
of the year HK$2.81#&TT 17,800,000 | HK$2.81%7T 17,800,000
Exercisable at the end FRATI6E
of the year HK$2.81#7T 17,800,000 | HK$2.817%7T 17,800,000
The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had RZZE—ZTF+=A=+—H
an exercise price of HK$2.81 (2009: HK$2.81) and a BMARTEEREZTEER
weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.375 2818 (ZEE L : 2.81
years (2009: 8.375 years). BIT)  MEFHREBRELNEF

B A7TI75E (ZBF 4
8.375%F)
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30. MEBcHERtE (W)
BREZ A TERER

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

c) Fair value of share options and assumptions c)

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of the share options granted is measured
based on the binomial option pricing model. The
contractual life of the share option is used as an

AR B mMES 2 R% 2
R EREEBREZ AFE
e BREBREZMA AT
BRIZEA] HEEEER
AtE - BREZANFH/U
BAZ—RBAZH -

input into this model.

Fair value of share options and BiREZOFE
assumptions BBk

Share price AR B

Exercise price I8 E

Expected volatility (expressed as TEHR R (A [ =18 =
weighted average volatility EEEBERA
used in the modeling under AR MEFSEE)

the binomial option pricing model)
Option life (expressed as weighted
average life used in the modeling

FEREFR (A
[—1A ] BEEE

under the binominal option R AR
pricing model) N9 FERR)
Expected dividends TEEARR B
Risk-free interest rate mEE = (R
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) INEESZRE)

2010 2009
—E—E5F —EENEF
HK$0.881#&75C | HK$0.881/& 7T
HK$2.79#75 | HK$2.7978 7T
HK$2.81i#7T 2.818 7T
40% 40%

10 years 10 year

+E +F

3% 3%

3.21% 3.21%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility based on public
available information. Expected dividends are based
on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

There were no service conditions or market
conditions associated with the share options
granted.

TEHR MR TR IR LR IR At B
(VA BB B #E 2 hn 4 7 35 3 64 57
HiFtE)  BHAEEARMAH
BFPEEA S WA AL
B RERESTIIREBEBERS
EE - IRAIBRAZ2HR
RZEBAIHRATFEZ(GHE
REATE -

B 2 18 P b 3 8 B s (1A
RIS RIT TS IR
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 14 December 2009, the Group through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Wuxi Pan-Asia and /% &, disposed
of its entire interests in R/ANE % for a total consideration
of RMB10,000,000. The transaction was completed on 14

December 2009.

On 28 December 2009, the Group through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Wuxi Pan-Asia, disposed of its
entire interests in jxEa &% for a total consideration of
RMB10,000,000. The transaction was completed on 23

December 2009.

The principal activities of R/{OEZ and ZIEEH were
property development.

31. HEMBLR

RZZEZRF+ZA+HIHE - &
EEEBEZEWNBARES T
DERLEE HEERRLE
22N BREABARE
10,000,0007C ° ZR BR_ZEZT A,
F+=-—A+MBEEK -

RZZBEZNF+_A=_+=H ' &
%lﬁﬂﬁ BB R RERE R
HEERZEEX 22 R &
RAE A A K #10,000,0007T ° % X
SR_ZEENF+_A=Z+=H=
ﬁo

RUBERRZGEFOUEFME
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 31. HEMBE AR (#)
The carrying amount of net assets/(liabilities) of the ZEMBRAANEEBRHZEEF
subsidiaries at the dates of disposal are as follow: B/ (BEFH) 2EEENT :
Total
RULE% REEX it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARBETT

Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of:  FrHE 2 EEFE

(BEFH) :
Property, plant and equipment W - MR RRE 16 = 16
Prepaid lease payments BREERR 20,800 = 20,800
Trade receivables U E 5 EER 367 = 367
Deposits, prepayments and ®e - BAFRER
other receivables H b e W08 26,530 14,682 41,212
Bank balances and cash RITEHRER S 5,000 29 5,029
Other payables and accruals H b e 5B AT E A (15,280) (4,942) (20,222)
Receipt in advance AU IR (28,322) = (28,322)
9,111 9,769 18,880
Gain on disposal HEEE 2 Wes 889 231 1,120
Total consideration HBRE 10,000 10,000 20,000
Satisfied by: ATRHI G R AT
Cash Be 10,000 10,000 20,000
Net cash flows arising on disposal: HEELZ7IREREFHE ¢
Cash consideration ReRE 10,000 10,000 20,000
Cash and cash equivalents FEzRE R
disposed of ZRREHEE (5,000) (29) (5,029)
5,000 9,971 14,971
ROEZ and j2a B # contributed loss of approximately RLEXRCTHEXARAEEE =
RMB889,000 and RMB231,000 respectively to the Group’s EENF-A-—RAEEHEBHILE
profit for the period since 1 January 2009 to the date of Rz =M EREED IHARE
disposal. 889,000 T X A R #231,0007T °

T s
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING 32. SEPHE

The Group manages its business by divisions and all those
divisions are located in the PRC. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following four reportable
segment. No operating segments have been aggregated
to form the following reportable segments.

a)

Sales of EP products and equipment: this segment
sells EP products and equipment to external
customers. Currently the Group’s activities in this
regard are carried out in PRC only.

EP construction engineering projects: this segment
undertakes EP engineering construction projects for
external customers. Currently the Group’s activities
in this regard are carried out in the PRC only.

Provision of EP related professional services: this
segment provides of EP related professional services
to external customers and for Group companies.
Currently the Group’s activities in this regard are
carried out in the PRC only.

Manufacture of EP construction materials: this
segment manufactures and sells EP construction
materials to external customers, main products are
wood wool cement board. Currently the Group’s
activities in this regard have not yet commenced.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s Chief Executive Officer monitors the results,
assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following basis:

AEBIZAMB D ERERL -
BN PE - 57 HER
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RIAT 228D B °

s RREMERBZHE : Ao
ERESNBE P EIRIRE @ &
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AN 5% B 1 SR TSE 1 P BIFE
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s RUERFREBEERS : LD
AR E P RAKEE T A
ARHRREBEXERY - B
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ERASNA TP IHERRESE
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a)

32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible and current
assets with the exception of investments in financial
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade and other payables attributable to
individual segments and short-term bank loan
managed directly by the Group’s Chief Executive
Officer.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated and services rendered by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments. Inter-segment assistance provided by one
segment to another is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” that is, “adjusted earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where
“interest” is regarded as including investment income
and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as
including impairment losses on non-current assets.
To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings
are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as directors’
and auditor’'s remuneration and other corporate
administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s Chief
Executive Officer is provided with segment
information concerning revenue (including inter
segment sales), interest income and expense from
cash balances and borrowings managed directly
by the segments, depreciation, amortisation and
impairment losses and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with
eference to prices charged to external parties for
ilar orders.

ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ'
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32. F#BWE (M)

a)
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 32. HEPERE ()
a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) a) DHEE -EERERE (H)
For the year ended 31 December BE+_A=+—HLFEE
Sales of EP products EP construction Provision of EP related
and equipment engineering projects professional services Manufactories of
HERR BRER REEG EP construction materials Total
ERRER I8ER HRERRE RERRIEDH #i

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
IB-%F | CEINE | ZB-BF | CTEAE | ZB-BF | CTTAE | DB-BE | CEEAF | CE-BE | EENE
RMB'000 | RMB'00 | RMB'000 | RMB00 | RMB'000 | RMB000 | RMB'000 | RMB000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000
AEBTR | AR%TT | ABRFR | ARETL | ABBTR | ARMTT | ABRFR | AR%TT | ARRTR | ARMTT

Reportable segment revenue  RESEZF4)
from external customer 2 OElen 627,807 421,521 13,114 179,386 5,697 8,065 - - 646,708 608,972

Reportable segment profit 2R

(adjusted EBITDA) (A:AZZEBITDA) | 197,820 98,964 1,83 45,076 4,934 3332 - - | 144500 | 147372
Interest expenses MR - - - 3977 - - 365 - 365 3977
Depreciation and ERTEREH

amortisation for the year 2,04 1,974 287 287 - - - - 2,328 2,261
Reportable segment assets ~ £HHHEE 302,086 | 224344 | 163,898 | 221944 613 6,318 | 156,392 - | 712,969 | 452606
Reportable segment liabilties £H/HFEE 18,101 41,807 130,303 111,197 12,069 10,085 5 - 160,478 163,089

i
i)

vEGT gt b e RN b g
S A s T A AL
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 32. EPERE ()

b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, b) ZEHpHUiE - BRHEE -
profit or loss, assets and liabilities EEREBZYHER
2010 2009
—E—ZF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT ARBTIT
Revenue ke
Reportable segment revenue Xﬁﬁl\ﬁﬁgﬁﬁ’l
from external customer MO ERUL 5 646,708 608,972
Profit i F
Reportable segment profit derived JREINEBEFH)
from external customer 2Ry EE A 144,590 147,372
Other revenue and other net H b U 28 N H At
(loss)/income (B18),/ A 2,354 21,655
Depreciation and amortisation I K B (5,586) (5,468)
Finance costs B A AN (367) (4,080)
Unallocated head office and RAOMBE R EERE
corporate expenses (30,337) (34,336)
Consolidated profit before taxation FRELRI4R A Y 110,654 125,143
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets EWMPEEE 712,969 452,606
Non-current financial assets ERBTREE 6,850 6,850
Unallocated head office and ROMBARTCHEEE
corporate assets 723,213 946,952
Consolidated total assets IREBEE 1,443,032 1,406,408
Liabilities A\
Reportable segment liabilities ERHHEE 160,478 163,089
Current tax liabilities BIEARIE B & 21,204 19,722
Deferred tax liabilities FEETIBEE 4,852 =
Unallocated head office and KOBBIARCEEE
corporate liabilities 50,673 63,770
Consolidated total liabilities LMEBatE 237,207 246,581
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information about major customer

Included in revenue arising from sales of EP
products and equipment of approximately
RMB627,897,000 (2009: arising from undertakes of
EP engineering construction project of approximately
RMB179,386,000) are revenues of approximately
RMB81,660,000 (2009: RMB95,504,000) which
arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer. No
other single customers contributed 10% or more to

the Group’s revenue for both 2010 and 2009.

Geographical information

The Group operates all its reportable segments in
the PRC. All revenue of operations and location of its

non-current assets are in the PRC.

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

A bank deposit of a subsidiary of approximately
RMB4,500,000 as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
RMB31,480,000) was pledged to secure a banking facility
of approximately RMB2,800,000 (2009: RMB51,296,000)

granted to the subsidiary.

A building with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB880,000 as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
RMB919,000) was pledged to a bank to secure a short-
term bank loan of RMB9,000,000 (2009: Nil) granted to a

subsidiary.

32. F#BEWE (M)

b) ZEWmHIWE  BRREE -
EERABZHIR ()
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a)

During the two years ended 31 December 2010 and
2009, in addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group entered into the following related party
transactions:

Relationship with
related party
HREALTZRE

Name of related party

MEALER

Wuxi Xin Wei High
Temperature Ceramics
Co., Ltd.

BEFERREE
BRAA

A company in which
Mr. Jiang Lei and
Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
directors of the Company,
have beneficial interest
ARREFEREER
BRELENATER

el SN

Osram
B Al 5A

A company in which
Mr. Jiang Lei and
Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
directors of the Company,
have beneficial interest
ARAESEEZRER
BREAENEDHESR

el SN

The details of emoluments of key management
personnel during the years ended 31 December
2009 and 2010 are set out in notes 8 and 9.

Nature of
transaction 2010 2009
XAME

Receipt of
rental income
WERA & YA

Payment of
rental expenses

X HHERX
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34. REALXRS

a REE_Z—ZFR=_FTZTAh
F+_A=+—HILEMEF
B BRZETBRER LA
MR X5 REFN - K
SEETZ NIBEALTRS ¢

The Group
*5E

- - 7

- =

RMB’000
AR®RTIT

“ETNE
RMB'000
ARETTL

53 53

(5) -

by FEZEEBEAEREE-ZZ
NERZZE—FFF+=A=+
— B IEFE 2 IBE R
FE8 M9 °
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35. COMMITMENTS 35. &iE
(a) Capital commitments (@) BEAXREAE
The Group
.34
2010 2009
—E—-ZF —ZTENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
Capital expenditure contracted BRAKEZETH
but not provided for in the BRRY R
financial statements in TEHBHE 2 EARAY
respect of the acquisition of — M BRERZE
— property, plant and equipment 91,546 51,296
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHERIE
The Group as lessee EREEHEEA

R|ERR  AEERART]
SREEMEZ TR HELER
EMARRRZ N RIEHEER
B AERIRERIMT -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and
the Company had commitments for future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of the renting of premises which fall
due as follows:

The Group The Company
EE b 3/

2010 2009 2010 2009

ZE-2f | —_TTNEF |ZB—BF | _TThEF

RMB’000 RMB’000 | RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRE | ARBTT |ARBTR ARETET

Within one year —&FRN 855 135 837 135

In second to —EEREF

fifth year inclusive (BEEEMSF) 981 = 906 =

More than five year AFEE 824 - - -

2,660 135 1,743 135

Operating leases relate to new factory facilities with BB SR e 2 48 & & B
lease terms of 49 years. BAQLE o

A

lll'l.. &

B i 570l
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35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Operating lease commitments (Continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group had contracted with tenants for the
following non-cancellable future minimum lease
payments receivable:

Within one year —FRN
In second to fifth year inclusive FE_FERF
(BEBERSF)

The Company had no capital commitments as at 31
December 2010 and 2009.

The Company had no operating lease commitments
as a lessor as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_T-ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

35. #A&ifE (#)

(b)

REHEERE (B

FREMESHAA
AEBEC EBP AT A
4 B WOR R R A & 15 RET 3L
aH -

The Group
*5KH
2010 2009
—P—PF | —TTAF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARETIT

53 53
71 124
124 177

(c)

(d)

R_E—ZTER -_TTNF+
—A=t+—8 ARARHESR
AR o

R-B—ZFR_FTNF+
“RA=+t—8 " ARAERY
HABELEHEAE -
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. HRAR

The Group has provided product warranties to its AEBFERTIEETIREREEY
customers in respect of construction work completed ZETRREGAEEPREHER
and certain of its EP products sold for a warranty period RE REHHAIZERENER
ranging from 6 months to 2 years after project completed KEBAANEAZEMELE [
or product delivery. At the same time, the Group has also B AEETEEEADERHE
received warranties in respect of those construction work BSLETIRM c BE TR REH 2R
and equipment supplied from its sub-contractors and ER% - ARFEZHEREAERE
suppliers. The directors of the Company believe that the ZERETE (NA) BaEan ki
amount of crystallised warranty liabilities, if any, in excess EREFiRHREMFZEE - BT
of the amount covered by the warranties given by the EHASEREVBMR RS S ESE
sub-contractors and suppliers, will not have a material BENEARNTFFE -

adverse effect on the overall financial position or results of
operations of the Group.

37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 37. EXER
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital AEBEEREAZEEZEBERE
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as NEBE R HEBIRBRFEBLEZE
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to ek DA EE A R A A B DA K 1
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its & RARERIUNE 2 BIH -

shareholders.

The management actively and regularly reviews and EEEREB L TR ERNEEETT
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance BRERER  WERSRREDRE
between the higher shareholder returns that might MTAIREHRE 2B = A EK TR
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the fid 2 B AR AR 2 07 B RARFE 2
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital S & - 035 38 ¥ AR ROR 3 A%
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure B ETHEBRE & RNEHEIE
through the amount of dividend payment to shareholders LA FRN - BERBERBUR
or raise new debt financing. No changes were made in the {EH &) -

objectives or policies during the year.

The management monitors the Group’s capital structure on EEEREREL X FEEERYE
the basis of a net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, RAREB 2 ERERE - Blt - A%
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes EREEBFHEAESERE (BET
interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other BERREE ENEZREMNK
payables and deposits received and receipts in advance 1B & B Wi & R TEBGRINIE R & #
plus unaccrued proposed dividends minus cash and cash HIRREFRERERBFEIER)

equivalents).

e i
I'II"EE\LJ\.:{$H"IE"‘I |;'




37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The net debt-to-equity ratio at 31 December 2010 and

2009 was as follows:

Current liabilities: mEEE -
Short-term bank loan KHIRITER
Trade and other payables EEHE%&E@?&E
Deposits received and Bz e KRBT

receipts in advance

Total debt BERE

Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : 54 RER
ReHEE

Net debt BEFE

Total equity BB

Net debt-to-equity ratio EEL EHE

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
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37. X E®R (@)
RZE—ZEFR_ZFTTNF+_A
=+ —BZEELEFENAT :

The Group The Company
F&E b /N

2010 2009 2010 2009
ZEBE-BfF | —TTHE | ZB-BFE| —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR | ARETT | AR%TR | ARETR
9,000 16,478 - -
109,703 140,968 1,066 937
92,448 69,413 - _
211,151 226,859 1,066 937
(685,503) (739,266) (6,475) (46,475)
(474,352) (512,407) (5,409) (45,538)
1,205,825 1,159,827 825,182 854,017
N/AFER N/ATEH N/AFE A N/ATNE

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

KR B SAT AT EL P B A R B RO
MERZERRERS]
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit,

liquidity, interest rate and currency

risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business. These risks are limited by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices described below.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

a)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2010, the maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statements
of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables and amounts due from related
parties which are disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade receivables are
normally due within 60 days from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
its customers.

38. &M TR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer.
Taking into account the creditworthiness of the
Group’s customers, the credit risk measures and
the historical levels of the bad debts, the Directors
consider that such concentration of credit risk
would not result in significant credit default exposure
to the Group. At the end of the reporting period,
24.03% (2009: 2.24%) and 37.52% (2009: 9.38%) of
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively
are arising from the sales of EP products and
equipment segment.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 18.

Amounts due from related parties are regularly
reviewed and settled unless the amounts are
specifically intended to be long-term in nature.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are bank with good reputation and
high credit ratings.

Credit risk associated with an advance to local
government departments is mitigated because
the amount is secured over the land use right.
The carrying amount of the amount advance
to local government departments amounted to
RMB97,230,000 (2009: RMB93,000,000).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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38. &#mTHR (1)

a)

FERE ()

RERESERME  A5H
2 EERREEZBREEFZ
BERIBE R 2 - BREGLERT
BTz ENRREEHEER
EREETE ZEIEAEE
EEZEE  FERREER
BAZERKE EZRA
EEFEERRTEHAE
EEKEAEEHEIRAR - B
WEHR - REBHERREM
BEDHZERRAEERA
BEERBRARMEF D RIhE
JEWE 5 BER24.03% (—TF
L 1 2.24%) &37.52% (=
TTHLEF : 9.38%) °

EEAEEEE 2 ERE FER
NEEZEERRZEZSE
HEEHNHIFES ©

R R FUA S EHETR
BIMAEE - BRIFZF IR I
HEERBRIIERIBRSN -

RBEREERBREAR  BS
B RAEBRIEEEREEER
ATARHOERTT ©

BRETEMN BRI PIRIBZ
EERBRERIE - TIHRZRK
T8 DA - L 55 FR # A K - TR
AT P 8 2 BRE(E A
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. £ T A ()
b) Interest rate risk b) FEEE
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk and fair AEBZRESRENERER R
value interest rate risks relate primarily to variable- AFEFERBREZEDFIEE
rates and fixed rates respectively of pledged bank EARIT R - |OTEHRRE
deposits, bank balances and short-term bank loan. HIRTTERZIZEBFE R EE
The Group’s normal policy is not to use any derivative MEE#H - —MmsE  A5E
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. ZBURTHBEMITES L
However, the management of the Company will REF R o MM E - K
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure REIEREREZREEHPEKXN
should the need arises. The Group’s interest rate MERR  AEEHBEEEE
profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) SE A R BERE SR T ()
below.
i) Interest rate profile ) FIREDR
The following table details the interest rate T3 AN 5 B A 18 K
profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of RS BRI R o

the reporting period.

2010 2009
—g-2 —TEnE
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ERflE YRS
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Net fixed rates borrowings Bl MR & 2% 4
Bank loans-secured BITES - HHEA - - 2.17 16,478
Net variable rates borrowings )% 2 1|5 & 21248
Bank loans-secured BITES - HEA 6.06 - 6.97 9,000 = =
Total net borrowings BEREHE 9,000 16,478
Net fixed rates borrowings B2 I & (& HoB4a(E
as a percentage of FTEEREEN
total interest-bearing Bo
borrowings - 100%




38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Interest rate risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2010, it is estimated that
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group’s profit after tax and retained profits
by approximately RMB6,810,000 (2009:
RMB7,543,000). Other components of equity
would not be affected by the changes in
interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative
financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates
over the period until the end of the next
reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2009.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to fixed rate bank borrowings. The
directors consider the fair value interest rate
risk is insignificant to the Group as most of
them are short-term.

B=E
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c)

S

38. &#mTHR ()

Liquidity risk c) RBESLER
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will enconuter mElE 2R TIE RSB R E
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with TEBENRS RN A A EAM
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash CTRMEEAFIH 2 ERMARE
or another financial assets as they fall due. The E 152 R AT AR 2 o
Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and NEE 2 R BEEZEE Bl
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance RIFEHz RSB ESH K RELE
with lending covenants and to ensure that it SFEREZE 2ER - ABERA
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate SRS TRBcHERET
committed lines of funding from banks to meet its RPITEGEEHENES - A
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. ENERARRRAZREE
The following table details the remaining contractual TRAFIAEERARAZ
maturities at the end of the reporting period of TECRBERRERR L
the Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative BRTAHER - WHERELD
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual FIERMBRR R (BR/RIE
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments BHIFTEF R FEFIRFTE
computed using contractual rates and variable rates) Z%' IBRTF) RAKERAR
and the earliest date the Group and the Company Al g AN R 2 &= B B HEr
can be required to pay. iér o
2010 2009
—2-25 ZZENE
Total Total
contractual contractual
undiscounted Within 1 undiscounted Within 1
cash flow year or cash flow year or
Carrying  &#F%E ondemand | Carying  AXFT  ondemand
amount KER  —FAE amount KR —FAR
FEE Rk BXRE RAE BER Kby
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTTE ARRTRT ARRTR | ARETT ARETT ARETH
The Group 5@
Short-term bank loan BHRRTER 9,000 9,627 9,627 16,478 16,843 16,843
Trade and other payables [ENBSREMIE 109,703 109,703 109,266 140,968 140,968 140,968
118,703 119,330 119,330 157,446 157,811 157,811
The Company b /NG|
Accruals and other payables &zt &/ K H i E(T70E 1,066 1,066 1,066 937 937

e T .
ML kot

gl |'-"$51.:"‘.: 3




38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c)

d)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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38. &#mTHR ()

Liquidity risk (Continued) c) nBELEK (&)
The Group held cash and bank balance amounting to AEBR-_ZE—ZF+_1
approximately RMB685,503,000 as at 31 December =T —BEHEEZHEE KRBT
2010 (2009: approximately RMB739,266,000), which i 8 # A R %685,503,000
it considers is adequate for it to manage its liquidity T(ZEZNLF: HARE
requirements. 739,266,0007T) ° AEERE
HENERERBESET R -
Currency risk d E¥ERER
The Group’s is exposed to currency risk primarily REEY Rz EEREEER
through sales and purchases that are denominated B ER A 7% P IR I B & HE DA
in a currency other than the functional currency I EMAEZEBER BB
of the operations to which they relate. The Group Z B - ANEE B AL &SN
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging HHBE - A BEEEGHE
policy, however, the management monitors foreign TONER R - WHERERE
exchange exposure and will consider hedging BB RINER R o
significant foreign currency exposure if necessary.
i) Exposure to currency risk ) EEEEmELE
The following table details the Group’s and TRFFIAREE RARAF]
the Company’s exposure at the end of the R EHARE R 2 EH%E
reporting period to currency risk arising from % BRERRTIENE R
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in KR BR 2 TREE B LASN
a currency other than the functional currency of LEBHECEEREE
the entity to which they relate. REEmEL -
The Group The Company
50 347
2010 2009 2010 2009
23-%% ZEENE I3-BE | CITNAF
HK$000  AUD’000  EUR'000 | HK$000 AUD'000  EUR000 | AUD'000 | AUD000
Tén TAm  FRRT | TEr  Tar  fErn | Tam Tar
Trade and other ERE ARl
receivables EE] 2,949 - - 13,595 - 1,625 - -
Cash and bank balances B2 RF(15% 17,911 - - 14937 6,899 - 1 6,899
Trade and other payables  ERE SR
£ (1,258) - - (1,063 - - - 3
Overall net exposure TEEREE 19,602 - - | 27469 6,809 1625 1 6,899

. L?bfc%Wﬁ;z
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued)

ii)

lll'l.. &

B i 570l
an P L O e P T B
Ly e a1 s A

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s profit after tax and
retained profits for the year and other
components of equity in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Company has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period date.

38. &#mTHR ()

2010
2-3%

Increase/  Effect on profit
(decrease)  aftertaxand  Effect on other
in foreign  retained profits ~ components of
exchangerates  HRRHR& AT equity
SHE® REEAH HiEaxf
B/ (&%) k4 7 Bocke
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AERTR AE®TR IN:3 2
HKD BT 1% 166 -
(1%) (166) -
AUD BT 1% - -
(1%) - -
EUR BT 1% - -
(1%) - -

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rate had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the
Group’s exposure to currency risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date. The stated
changes represent management’s assessment
of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchanges rates over the period until the end
of the next reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2009.

BEERR (8)
i) BRI

B S n e e

TRERRREE K
A 4 B B B 18 R AR
2% FI R AE 2% A 3015
AL AEGEARR
TERABTEEDT
2 BB -

2009
“ETNE

Increase/  Effect on prof
(decrease) aftertaxand  Effect on other
inforeign  retained profits  components of
exchangerates  ERFEET equity
HeER RRZEH HEaih
/(i) a7 a7
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS BT N S
242 -
(1%) (242) -
423 -
(1%) (423) -

116 =

(1%) (116) -

PA b 8URRE 5 i B R
RONEERBEBLR
BEHRR AEARE
AFENERETA LR
E¥RERE L Ed 2
EEEREBHHRMETRE
BEPRRINEEERS

KB TR B B E AT
i ZETNENDN
FEANR R BT -




38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d)

e)

Currency risk (Continued)
ii)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the year. RMB
denominated the operations of the Group
and the exposure on other currencies is
insignificant.

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the
following financial instruments.

i) Liquid or/and short-term assets and liabilities

For financial assets and financial liabilities
that are liquid or having a short term maturity,
it is assumed that the carrying amounts
approximate their fair values. The assumption
is applied to trade and other receivables, trade
and other payables, pledged bank deposits
cash and cash equivalents without a specific
maturity.

W7

.‘f‘g;'
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 39. AT RFIER

JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2(b), management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
i) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expense. These estimates are
based on the current market conditions and
the historical experience of manufacturing and
selling products of similar nature. Management
will reassess the estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Carrying amount of inventories
as at 31 December 2010 are approximately
RMB33,750,000 (2009: RMB32,955,000).

ii)  Trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the
provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables. This estimate is based on the
credit history of its customers and the current
market conditions. Management reassesses the
provision at the end of each reporting period.
Carrying amount of trade and other receivables
as at 31 December 2010 are approximately
RMB529,803,000 (2009: RMB540,992,000).
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

iii)

Construction contacts

As explained in policy notes 2(j) and (r)
(ii) revenue and profit recognition on an
uncompleted project is dependent on
estimating the total outcome of the construction
contract, as well as the work done to date.
Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the construction activity
undertaken by the Group, the Group makes
estimates of the point at which it considers
the work is sufficiently advanced such that the
costs to complete and revenue can be reliably
estimated. As a result, until this point is reached
the amounts due from customers for contract
work as disclosed in note 26 will not include
profit which the Group may eventually realise
from the work done to date. In addition, actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may
be higher or lower than estimated at the end
of the reporting period, which would affect the
revenue and profit recognised in future years
as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to
date.
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

b)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

i)

jii)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group
estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment in order to determine the amount
of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The
useful lives are estimated at the time the asset
is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets,
as well as technical obsolescence arising from
changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also performs
annual reviews on whether the assumptions
made on useful lives continued to be valid.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments

The Group assesses annually whether property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments have any indication of impairment.
The recoverable amounts of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations require the use
of judgements and estimates.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement of the future tax treatment of certain
transactions and the interpretation of tax
rules. The Group carefully evaluates the tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to
take into account all changes in tax legislation.
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40. PARENT COMPANY

The director considers the parent company of the
Company to be Praise Fortune Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. This entity does
not produce financial statements available for public use.

41. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain items in the financial statements were reclassified
which would result in a more appropriate presentation of
events or transactions. Accordingly, comparative figures
have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

42. LITIGATION

On 3 June 2010, an action was initiated by &SRR
¥ (£E) R 28], a supplier of Company’s subsidiary,
against Wuxi Pan Asia, for the cancellation of a purchase
contract and claiming a compensation of RMB939,000.
The case is currently heard by JT# & T &Em AREAR
(“Court”) and had the first hearing on 9 December 2010.
At the end of the reporting period, no judgement has been
received from the Court yet. The directors have sought
advice from its PRC lawyers in this aspect and are of
the view that the claim is based on unsubstantiated and
invalid grounds. Wuxi Pan Asia should have no liabilities
other than legal costs in this aspect.
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Financial Summary

MBRE

Following is a summary of the consolidated results and the

TERA/AKEBE R EMBERER XM

consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last ST AEERR ZGAEENGEREE
five financial years prepared on a basis as stated in the notes HEERE
below:
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS Re¥E
For the year ended 31 December
BE+_A=1+—HLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
-2 | _TTNF —_ZTTN\F TT+F _TTRF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARETT ARETIT ARBTT ARBTL
Turnover e 646,708 608,972 598,765 708,946 508,628
Profits before taxation &5 A A 110,654 125,143 117,563 277,214 187,827
Taxation 518 (35,099)| (37,385)  (41,428)  (67,766)  (22,701)
Profit for the year FEEH 74,655 87,758 76,135 209,448 165,126
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITY FeEEHAR
As at 31 December
®+=-A=+—H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
225 | _TTHNGF ZTTNGF ZTTLE ZTITRF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRE | AREBTT ARETT AREBETIT ARBTIL
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 189,307 61,546 61,710 62,962 66,352
Total current assets MBI EELE 1,253,725 | 1,344,862 1,293,881 1,171,530 448,597
Total assets BERE 1,443,032 | 1,406,408 1,355,591 1,234,492 514,949
Total liabilities B EmE (237,207)| (246,581)  (288,438)  (205,312) 165,126
Notes: HieE -
1. The summary of the consolidated assets and liabilities of 1. AEERBEE-_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—
the Group as at the end of the five financial years ended 31 HIEREMBEE Fa & EHE &
December 2010 was prepared as if the current group structure gﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁ%ﬁ&t%ﬁﬁﬂlﬁf

had been in existence throughout these financial years according
to the basis of presentation as set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

2. The results for the year ended 31 December 2006 were extracted
from the prospectus of the Company dated 10 December 2007.

g Assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2006
were extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 10
December 2007.
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AEP

e B IR®RKEEAFR 2 T
Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
(REEHBEMR T ARAF)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

&7 55 stock code : 00556.HK
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